
 
Agenda No. 2012–22 November 19, 2012 Page 1 of 3 

FAIRBANKS CITY COUNCIL 

AGENDA NO. 2012–22 

REGULAR MEETING November 19, 2012 
FAIRBANKS CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

800 CUSHMAN STREET, FAIRBANKS, ALASKA 

 

PRELIMINARY MEETING 
 

I 5:30 P.M. Work Session with Fairbanks Convention & Visitors Bureau 

II 6:20 P.M. Work Session with Fairbanks Economic Development Corporation 

 
 
 

REGULAR MEETING 
 
 
III 7:00 P.M. 
 
 
1. ROLL CALL 
 
 
2. INVOCATION 
 
 
3. FLAG SALUTATION 
 
 
4. CITIZENS COMMENTS, oral communications to Council on any item not up for Public 

Hearing.  Testimony is limited to five (5) minutes.  Any person wishing to speak needs to 
complete the register located in the hallway.  Normal standards of decorum and courtesy 
should be observed by all speakers.  Remarks should be directed to the City Council as 
a body rather than to any particular Council Member or member of the staff.  In 
consideration of others, kindly silence all cell phone, electronic and messaging devices.  

 
 
5. APPROVAL OF AGENDA AND CONSENT AGENDA 
 

(Approval of Consent Agenda passes all routine items indicated by an asterisk (*).  
Consent Agenda items are not considered separately unless a Council Member so 
requests.  In the event of such a request, the item is returned to the General Agenda). 

 
 
6. APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS MINUTES 
 
        * Regular Meeting Minutes of October 22, 2012 
 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 1 of 144



 
Agenda No. 2012–22 November 19, 2012 Page 2 of 3 

7. SPECIAL ORDERS 
 

a) The Fairbanks City Council, Sitting as a Committee of the Whole, will hear 
interested citizens concerned with the below-referenced Liquor License 
Application for Transfer and Restaurant Designation Permit.  Public 
Testimony will be taken and limited to five (5) minutes.   

 Transfer of Ownership: 

 Type: Restaurant / Eating Place 

 FROM:  
 Current DBA: Thai House Restaurant, License #3687 
 Licensee: Chalermpon Boonprasert (deceased) 
 Location: 412 5th Avenue, Fairbanks 

 TO: 
 License: Thai House Restaurant, License #3687 
 Licensee/Applicant: Boonchoo, Inc. 
 Physical Location  412 5th Avenue, Fairbanks 

 
 
8. MAYOR'S COMMENTS AND REPORT 
 
 
9. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 

 Ordinance No. 5903, As Amended – An Ordinance Amending FGC 
Chapter 34, Article VI, Section 34-201, to Allow Replacement of Hydronic 
Heaters.  Introduced by Council Member Stiver.  Public Hearing was Held 
on November 5, 2012.  POSTPONED from the Regular Meeting of 
November 5, 2012.   

 
 
10. NEW BUSINESS 
 

*a) Resolution No. 4547 – A Resolution Stating the City’s Capital Priorities for 
the State 2013-14 Fiscal Year.  Introduced by Mayor Cleworth.   

 
*b) Ordinance No. 5905 – An Ordinance Amending Fairbanks General Code 

Sections 2-260 and 2-261 and Enacting 2-262 Regarding the Authorized 
Investment Selections of the City Permanent Fund Investment Policy.  
Introduced by Mayor Cleworth and Council Member Gatewood.   

 
*c) Ordinance No. 5906 – An Ordinance Authorizing Release of an Easement 

in Peger Lake Development.  Introduced by Mayor Cleworth.   
 

*d) Ordinance No. 5907 – An Ordinance Adopting the 2013 Operating and 
Capital Budgets.  Introduced by Mayor Cleworth.   

 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 2 of 144



 
Agenda No. 2012–22 November 19, 2012 Page 3 of 3 

*e) Ordinance No. 5908 – An Ordinance Amending the 2012 General Fund 
Budget for the Third Time.  Introduced by Mayor Cleworth.   

 
 
11. DISCUSSION ITEMS (INFORMATION AND REPORT) 
 
   Committee Reports 
 
 
12. COMMUNICATIONS TO COUNCIL 
 

*a) Approval of the 2013 City Council Meeting Schedule 
 
 *b) Permanent Fund Review Board Meeting Minutes of August 1, 2012 
 
 
13. COUNCIL MEMBERS’ COMMENTS 
 
 
14. CITY ATTORNEY’S REPORT 
 
 
15. CITY CLERK’S REPORT 
 
 
16. EXECUTIVE SESSION:  Utilidor Shed Damage Claim – (USAA/Kihleng) 
 
 
17. ADJOURNMENT 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 3 of 144



 

FAIRBANKS CITY COUNCIL 
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES, OCTOBER 22, 2012 

FAIRBANKS CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
800 CUSHMAN STREET, FAIRBANKS, ALASKA 

 
 
The City Council convened at 7:00 p.m. on the above date, to conduct a Regular Meeting of the 
Fairbanks City Council at the City Council Chambers, 800 Cushman Street, Fairbanks, Alaska, 
with Mayor Jerry Cleworth presiding and with the following Council Members in attendance: 
 
Council Members Present: Vivian Stiver, Seat A 

Chad Roberts, Seat B 
Bernard Gatewood, Seat C 
Jim Matherly, Seat D 
Lloyd Hilling, Seat E 
John Eberhart, Seat F 
Renee Staley, Seat A Elect 
Perry Walley, Seat B Elect 
 

Absent: None 
 

Also Present: Pat Cole, Chief of Staff 
Ernie Misewicz, Assistant Fire Chief 
Paul Ewers, City Attorney 
Janey Hovenden, City Clerk 
Ryan Rickels, IT Director 
Michael J. Schmetzer, City Engineer 
Tony C. Shumate, Director Personnel/Purchasing/RM 
Laren Zager, Police Chief 
 

INVOCATION 
 
The Invocation was given by City Clerk Janey Hovenden. 
 
FLAG SALUTATION 
 
Mayor Cleworth led the Flag Salutation. 
 
CITIZEN’S COMMENTS 
 
Oran Paul, 2711 Monteverde Road, Fairbanks – Mr. Paul, Vice President and Chief Operating 
Officer of Fairbanks Sewer and Water, thanked the Council, the Mayor and City staff for their 
support in obtaining low-interest funding for the sludge dewatering project at the wastewater 
treatment plant.   
 
Frank Turney, 201 7th Avenue, Fairbanks – Mr. Turney thanked Mr. Roberts and Ms. Stiver for 
their service on the City Council.  He stated that Mr. Roberts has served as a gentleman and has 
shown a respectful demeanor towards fellow Council Members and citizens.  He stated that he 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 4 of 144



 

 

City of Fairbanks NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT October 22, 2012 
Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 2 of 21 

and Ms. Stiver’s views have differed, but stated that they can agree to disagree.  He spoke to 
Public Testimony as being an appropriate forum for constructive criticism and quoted former 
U.S. President Harry S. Truman:  “If you can’t stand the heat, get out of the kitchen.”  Mr. 
Turney welcomed newly-elected Council Members Renee Staley and Perry Walley.   
 
Victor Buberge, PO Box 58192, Fairbanks – Mr. Buberge commended Mr. Turney for his 
comments in regards to the Council.  He thanked Public Works for taking care of various 
potholes before the snow fell.   
 
David Lerman, 126 Second Avenue, #15, Fairbanks – Mr. Lerman congratulated the newly-
elected Council Members.  He announced that he has created a new website titled, Voter Butter, 
and stated that his Renovation Fairbanks website is still operational.  He stated that the 
inspiration behind the new site is to “churn” good ideas for Fairbanks and Interior Alaska and 
encouraged everyone to visit the website.  Mr. Lerman stated his intent to run in the 2013 
Municipal Election and added that it will be his sixth campaign for City Council.  He thanked 
those who supported him in the 2012 election with their vote.  Mr. Lerman spoke to the Polaris 
Hotel and to Mr. Marlow’s intent to renovate the structure into an apartment complex.  He stated 
that Mr. Marlow indicated that federal grants would have to be obtained before renovation could 
occur.  Mr. Lerman expressed his belief that condemning the building is a mistake and that the 
Council should approve a resolution in support of Mr. Marlow’s efforts.  He added that the City 
should waive all building permit fees to offset the cost for those who wish to renovate 
dilapidated structures within the City limits.  He requested that statistics be placed on the City’s 
website in regard to things such as deteriorated properties, DUI’s and domestic violence cases.  
Mr. Lerman spoke to the creation of various task forces as being the start of a solution for these 
problems.   
 
Hearing no more requests for public comment, Mayor Cleworth declared Public Testimony 
closed. 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA AND CONSENT AGENDA 
 
Mayor Cleworth explained that Resolution No. 4598 is being hand-carried due to a meeting 
with Governor Parnell the next day.  He stated that the City would like to present a project to the 
Governor at that meeting.  He stated that the Council must approve to add the resolution to the 
agenda unanimously in order for it to happen.   
 
Mr. Hilling, seconded by Mr. Matherly, moved to APPROVE the Agenda and Consent 
Agenda. 
 
Mr. Roberts, seconded by Mr. Gatewood, moved to ADD Hand-carried Resolution No. 4598 to 
the Agenda under New Business.   
 

Mayor Cleworth called for objection to the ADDITION of Hand-
carried Resolution No. 4598 to the Agenda and, hearing none, so 
ORDERED. 

 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 5 of 144



 

 

City of Fairbanks NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT October 22, 2012 
Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 3 of 21 

A ROLL CALL VOTE WAS TAKEN ON THE MOTION TO APPROVE THE AGENDA, AS 
AMENDED, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

YEAS:  Gatewood, Roberts, Eberhart, Matherly, Stiver, Hilling 
NAYS: None 
Mayor Cleworth declared the MOTION CARRIED. 

 
City Clerk Hovenden read the Consent Agenda, as Amended, into the record. 
 
APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS MINUTES 
 
a) Regular Meeting Minutes of September 10, 2012. 
 

PASSED and APPROVED on the CONSENT AGENDA. 
 
b) Regular Meeting Minutes of September 24, 2012. 
 

PASSED and APPROVED on the CONSENT AGENDA. 
 
SPECIAL ORDERS 
 

The Fairbanks City Council, Sitting as a Committee of the Whole, heard interested 
citizens concerned with the below-referenced Liquor License Application for Transfer 
and Restaurant Designation Permit. 

 
Transfer of Ownership, Location and Name Change: 

 Type: Beverage Dispensary 
 License: Geraldo’s Restaurant, #542 
 Licensee/Applicant: Garlic Lover, LLC 
 Physical Location  701 College Road, Fairbanks 

 Current DBA: Husky Lounge 
 Licensee: The Kishan Group 
 Location: 1521 Cushman Street, Fairbanks 
 
Ms. Stiver, seconded by Mr. Gatewood, moved to WAIVE Protest on the Application for 
Transfer and Restaurant Designation Permit.   
 
Mayor Cleworth called for Public Testimony and, hearing none, declared Public Testimony 
closed. 
 
A ROLL CALL VOTE WAS TAKEN ON THE MOTION TO WAIVE PROTEST ON THE 
APPLICATION FOR TRANSFER AND RESTAURANT DESIGNATION PERMIT, AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 

YEAS:  Roberts, Matherly, Gatewood, Hilling, Eberhart, Stiver 
NAYS: None 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 6 of 144



 

 

City of Fairbanks NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT October 22, 2012 
Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 4 of 21 

Mayor Cleworth declared the MOTION CARRIED. 
 
MAYOR’S COMMENTS AND REPORT 
 
Mayor Cleworth stated that this is a bittersweet time, seeing the changeover in Council 
Members.  He thanked Mr. Roberts for representing the City of Fairbanks on the FMATS Policy 
Committee and for his integrity as a Council Member.  Mayor Cleworth spoke to Ms. Stiver’s 
service on the Hotel/Motel Discretionary Fund Committee and to her representation of the City 
at the Borough Assembly meetings.  He thanked Ms. Stiver for her willingness to serve as a 
Council Member and wished both departing Council Members the best.  He welcomed Council 
Member elects, Renee Staley and Perry Walley.  Mayor Cleworth spoke to the City Attorney’s 
Memo and to the Borough Assembly’s adoption of the utility ordinance.  He explained that the 
Assembly had made some changes to the verbiage of what the City adopted in Ordinance No. 
5895, as Amended.  He asked the Council to include their thoughts on the issue during their 
comments.  Mayor Cleworth stated that the promised report from Chief Zager would come later 
in the meeting.   
 
Mayor Cleworth spoke to his recommendations for the two City appointments to the Interior 
Alaska Natural Gas Utility (IANGU) Board of Directors, Frank Abegg and Michael Meeks.  He 
explained that the City has the opportunity to appoint two seats on the Board initially.  He stated 
that after a certain period of time, four seats on the Board would become elected and only three 
would appointed (one seat each representing the Cities of North Pole and Fairbanks and one to 
represent the Borough).  He spoke to the utility experience of both gentlemen and to their 
professional roles in the community.  He asked the Council to make a motion to approve the 
appointments later in the meeting if they so wished.   
 
Mayor Cleworth spoke to the problem with inoperable street lights throughout the City.  He 
stated that the City is looking into the issue.  He asked Deputy Fire Chief Ernie Misewicz to 
come forward for the presentation of badges for the Fairbanks Fire Department.   
 
Mr. Misewicz provided a brief history of fire service in the Fairbanks area and the dangers and 
challenges that fire fighters are faced with.  He stated that training has become very significant to 
the occupation, with a minimum of 160 training hours required for employment and that 
requirements in that line of work are constantly increasing.  He gave a PowerPoint presentation 
applauding 2012 recruits of the Fairbanks Fire Department who have successfully completed 
training requirements:  Nicholas Clark, Zach Rittel and Kevin Nelson.  Mr. Misewicz recognized 
Joy Beth Cottle who coordinated the academy for the Fairbanks Fire Department.   
 
New recruits recognized Ms. Cottle for the time she dedicated to their training.   
 
Mayor Cleworth thanked Mr. Misewicz for the presentation.  He informed Ms. Stiver and Mr. 
Roberts that they would receive their plaques soon, but that they were not ready yet.  Mayor 
Cleworth recognized Ruby Riddle, stating that it is good to have her in attendance at the 
meeting.   
 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 7 of 144



 

 

City of Fairbanks NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT October 22, 2012 
Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 5 of 21 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 
a) Ordinance No. 5897 – An Ordinance Amending the 2012 Capital Appropriations Fund 

Budget for the First Time and Setting an Effective Date.  Introduced by Mayor Cleworth.  
SECOND READING AND PUBLIC HEARING.   

 
Mr. Roberts, seconded by Mr. Matherly, moved to ADOPT Ordinance No. 5897. 
 
Mayor Cleworth called for Public Testimony and, hearing none, declared Public Testimony 
closed. 
 
A ROLL CALL VOTE WAS TAKEN ON THE MOTION TO ADOPT ORDINANCE NO. 
5897, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

YEAS:  Stiver, Matherly, Gatewood, Hilling, Eberhart, Roberts 
NAYS: None 
Mayor Cleworth declared the MOTION CARRIED and 
Ordinance No. 5897 ADOPTED. 

 
b) Ordinance No. 5898 – An Ordinance Creating a Downtown Local Improvement District.  

Introduced by Council Member Stiver.  SECOND READING AND PUBLIC HEARING.   
 
Ms. Stiver, seconded by Mr. Gatewood, moved to ADOPT Ordinance No. 5898. 
 
Mayor Cleworth called for Public Testimony. 
 
David van den Berg, 332 Slater Drive, Director of Fairbanks Downtown Association (DTA) – 
Mr. van den Berg distributed a handout to the Mayor and Council stating the DTA Board of 
Directors’ position on the LID.  He spoke in support of Ordinance No. 5898 and thanked 
members of the LID Committee for their work in bringing the ordinance forward.  Mr. van den 
Berg spoke to the experience and expertise of the DTA and Festival Fairbanks in providing clean 
and safe services in the downtown Fairbanks area.  He expressed DTA’s desire to continue their 
services under the LID.  He spoke to the proposed budget of the CSP and Clean Team after the 
DTA/Festival Fairbanks merge and to keeping the millage rate as low as possible for LID 
property owners.  He reminded the Council that the Clean Team program would likely die soon 
unless something is done.   
 
Mr. Matherly asked Mr. van den Berg if the $83,000 he outlined in the budget would be 
sufficient funds for the DTA/Festival Fairbanks to operate the clean and safe programs. 
 
Mr. van den Berg replied that the number is a rough estimate, but it is in the ball park of what is 
needed for the services to remain “status quo.”   
 
Mr. Eberhart asked Mr. van den Berg if he has seen any positive impact in the downtown area 
since the opening of the Housing First project.   
 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 8 of 144



 

 

City of Fairbanks NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT October 22, 2012 
Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 6 of 21 

Mr. van den Berg replied that he has seen a positive change since Housing First opened its doors 
in May, 2012.  He stated that he believes it takes about two months of residency with the 
Housing First project for individuals to change their habits based on the pattern from this year.   
 
Mr. Eberhart asked how close to capacity Housing First is.   
 
Mr. van den Berg replied that he is unsure.   
 
Mr. Eberhart asked Mr. van den Berg how long the DTA has been operating the CSP program 
and if DTA has all the equipment, staff, supplies and office facilities in place to continue the 
service.   
 
Mr. van den Berg replied that the CSP has been operated by the DTA since 2007 and that they 
have all the resources in place to continue the service.   
 
Mr. Eberhart asked if Mr. van den Berg to place an estimated value on the CSP’s assets. 
 
Mr. van den Berg replied that the only significant capital in the program is the CSP van which 
cost $42,000 to purchase in 2010.   
 
Mr. Eberhart spoke to the relationships that are already established with the existing CSP staff.  
He asked how long Festival Fairbanks has been operating the Clean Team.   
 
Mr. van den Berg replied that Festival Fairbanks has been running the Clean Team program 
since 2005. 
 
Mr. Eberhart asked Mr. van den Berg if he is requesting that the merged DTA/Festival 
Fairbanks be substituted as the “qualified organization” referenced in Ordinance No. 5898.   
 
Mr. van den Berg suggested that the clean and safe services can be performed at a lesser cost 
than the $200,000 maximum assessment stated in the ordinance.  He explained that he and the 
DTA would like to provide a level of certainty, if necessary, to see Ordinance No. 5898 adopted.  
He spoke to the role of the LID Advisory Committee. 
 
Mr. Gatewood addressed the proposed 2013 budget of the CSP/Clean Team.  He indicated that 
the programs cannot depend on grant funding and donations from other organizations in the 
future.  He asked how the proposed budget would be impacted if those donations and funds were 
not included in the proposed budget.   
 
Mr. van den Berg replied that the LID Committee took those unknown factors into consideration 
when they set the maximum assessment at $200,000.   
 
Mr. Roberts asked Mr. van den Berg if he is requesting any changes to Ordinance No. 5898. 
 
Mr. van den Berg stated that his concern is that the mill rate be affordable to downtown property 
owners.  He suggested that an assessment range be established in the ordinance naming not only 
a maximum, but also a minimum.   

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 9 of 144



 

 

City of Fairbanks NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT October 22, 2012 
Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 7 of 21 

 
Mr. Hilling asked Mr. van den Berg to speak to the possibility of large organizations reducing or 
withdrawing their contribution to the CSP upon implementation of the LID.   
 
Mr. van den Berg stated that he believes the reverse would happen.  He expressed his opinion 
that entities want to become involved when they see other organizations contributing to a 
successful program.   
 
Mayor Cleworth asked about the current number of staff for the CSP.   
 
Mr. van den Berg replied that there are three CSP employees.   
 
Buki Wright, PO Box 58111, Fairbanks – Mr. Wright stated that he is employed by Aurora 
Energy, which provides heat for many of the larger buildings in Downtown Fairbanks.  He spoke 
in favor of Ordinance No. 5898, stating that it is important to businesses and community 
members to have a safe and welcoming Downtown.  He stated that the idea of a LID is a stable 
approach to funding the clean and safe services.  Mr. Wright indicated that the DTA and Festival 
Fairbanks have performed the services in the most efficient and cost-effective way possible and 
suggested that the merged organization may be the best candidate to continue the programs.  He 
spoke to the two-year term of the LID as being a good trial run.  Mr. Wright indicated that the 
$200,000 maximum assessment may be a little high, stating that if you give someone a certain 
amount of money they will find a way to spend it.   
 
Ms. Stiver asked Mr. Wright if he had been shown how the LID Committee arrived at the 
$200,000 assessment value.   
 
Mr. Wright replied that he was informed in general but has not seen specifics on how they 
arrived at that number.  He stated that he could understand the reasoning behind a higher number 
if the clean and safe programs were being started from scratch.   
 
Ms. Stiver clarified that it was not the intent of the LID Committee to overtax downtown 
property owners and indicated that if overtaxing occurred, residents would be refunded the 
excess funds.   
 
Mr. Wright spoke to the large “hit” some property owners would take under a $200,000 
assessment.  He stated that there may be enough resistance to make the LID fail if the assessment 
was too high.   
 
Frank Turney, 201 7th Avenue, Fairbanks – Mr. Turney stated that he would like to hear from 
the President of the Board of Directors for the DTA in regards to the LID issue.  He suggested 
that there may be some duplication of staff after the merger between DTA/Festival Fairbanks is 
complete.  Mr. Turney spoke the quality of work done by Oscar, a Clean Team employee.  He 
spoke to cutting back in some areas of the CSP due to the temperature drop during the winter 
months.  He stated that he opposes any interference Ordinance No. 5898 would bring to his snow 
removal business downtown.  He spoke against taxing downtown local businesses to fund the 
LID and expressed hope that another plan would come forward.   
 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 10 of 144



 

 

City of Fairbanks NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT October 22, 2012 
Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 8 of 21 

Mr. Hilling asked Mr. Turney to explain how the enactment of Ordinance No. 5898 would 
deprive snow removal businesses.   
 
Mr. Turney replied that most downtown businesses already have someone in place to perform 
snow removal and that he would hate to see those snow removal businesses lose work because of 
the LID.   
 
Julie Engfer, 1624 Tamarack Street, Fairbanks – Ms. Engfer, representative of Festival 
Fairbanks, thanked the LID Committee for their discussions and work in preparing Ordinance 
No. 5898.  She informed the Council that she has more information on the Clean Team if they 
wished to see it.  Ms. Engfer clarified that Festival Fairbanks gave up the management of the 
Clean Team, but arranged for the program to operate at half-capacity for 2012.  She indicated 
that the program is not effective enough with only one staff member.   
 
Ms. Stiver asked Ms. Engfer if the Clean Team’s equipment is currently up for sale.   
 
Ms. Engfer replied that Festival Fairbanks is not actively trying to sell the equipment at this time.  
She stated that the only piece of Clean Team equipment that has been sold is a Bobcat and that 
Festival Fairbanks still owns a street sweeper, a truck and a stadium vac.  She stated that the 
City’s Public Works Department and Wolverine has performed maintenance on the equipment.   
 
Mr. Hilling asked to what extent the Clean Team performs snow removal. 
 
Ms. Engfer stated that she is unsure of the level of snow removal service currently provided 
since Festival Fairbanks is no longer managing the Clean Team.  She expressed her 
understanding that the LID Committee did not intend for the clean and safe services to take away 
from local snow removal businesses.    
 
Mr. Gatewood asked what types of services the Clean Team performed under the management 
of Festival Fairbanks.   
 
Ms. Engfer distributed a handout to the Council illustrating and outlining Clean Team services.  
She spoke to Clean Team staffing, working hours and duties.  She stated that some of the funds 
that are being used to operate the program for the remainder of 2012 came from a BP grant.   
 
Mike Webb, 531 2nd Avenue, Fairbanks – Mr. Webb stated that he is in favor of a LID program, 
but is unsure whether or not the structure set out in Ordinance No. 5898 is the right way to create 
a LID.  He stated that he has voluntarily contributed to the CSP and Clean Team for a number of 
years and that under the proposed LID assessment, he would be paying less than what he 
contributes to the programs annually.  He spoke to the value of the services to his business and to 
his willingness to continue contributing to the programs.  He reasoned that property owners 
should not be solely responsible for funding the services since the City also benefits from the 
clean and safe services.   
 
Chris Miller, 410 2nd Avenue, Fairbanks – Mr. Miller stated that he is a downtown property 
owner, a member and a Board Member of the DTA, and was a member of the LID Ad-hoc 
Committee.  He described the Committee’s reasoning in arriving at a maximum LID assessment 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 11 of 144



 

 

City of Fairbanks NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT October 22, 2012 
Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 9 of 21 

of $200,000.  He spoke to the LID election process, representation of property owners on the 
LID Advisory Board, community support for a LID and to a consistent level of service to all 
properties within the coverage area.  Mr. Miller indicated that CSP expenses increase during the 
winter months.  Mr. Miller spoke in support of Ordinance No. 5898.   
 
Mr. Matherly asked Mr. Miller to speak to the increase in CSP expenses during winter months.   
 
Mr. Miller replied that the statistics were gathered over a five-year period and simply show 
higher expenditures in winter months than summer months.  He stated that the number of CSP 
“touches” have declined significantly since 2008 and that the program has made a positive 
impact in the downtown area.   
 
Ms. Stiver stated that one of the LID Committee’s concerns was the unknowns surrounding the 
merger of Festival Fairbanks and the DTA.  She asked Mr. Miller if he would agree that it was 
important to the Committee to leave the contracting entity unnamed so that the LID Advisory 
Board would have options.   
 
Mr. Miller agreed that the Committee was adamant that the entity to perform the services should 
be left unnamed.   
 
Mr. Eberhart addressed Section 2 of Ordinance No. 5898 where it states that LID services 
cannot be performed by City employees.  He asked Mr. Miller the reasoning behind that 
language.   
 
Mr. Miller replied that the Committee understood that “bigger government” would fail and that 
the LID services should be in private hands.   
 
Mr. Eberhart stated that there have been discussions about putting a full-time City laborer in 
the downtown area to perform some of the clean-up services.   
 
Mr. Miller remarked that a private entity would be able to do the job much more efficiently, with 
three CSP employees and one Clean Team employee. 
 
Mayor Cleworth spoke to the funding that the City agreed to give to the program for a four-year 
period.  He asked Mr. Miller if that City funding was addressed by the Committee. 
 
Mr. Miller replied that the Committee took the City funding into account when they set the two-
year term for the LID, which corresponds with the expiration of City funding.  He stated that the 
Committee understood that the City may wish to reduce or do away with the funding in the 
future.   
 
Victor Buberge, PO Box 58192, Fairbanks – Mr. Buberge spoke to Mr. van den Berg’s push for 
more funding for his organization.  He suggested that if there was going to be a tax, the levy 
should cover the entire City, not just the core downtown area property owners.  He spoke to 
increasing efficiency of the Clean Team and CSP to maximize service and minimize spending.  
Mr. Buberge indicated that snow removal in the downtown area could not be done for $200,000 
per year.  He spoke against creating the LID tax.   

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 12 of 144



 

 

City of Fairbanks NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT October 22, 2012 
Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 10 of 21 

 
Mr. Gatewood asked Mr. Buberge what he believes is an appropriate figure for snow removal in 
the downtown area.   
 
Mr. Buberge replied that he thinks it would be appropriate for the Public Works Department to 
take on the LID services.   
 
David Lerman, 126 Second Avenue, #15, Fairbanks – Mr. Lerman stated that, as a bicyclist, he 
sees more trash and debris in the City than most people would notice driving in a car.  He 
suggested that the borders for the LID be removed to allow anyone to participate in the taxation 
and services.   
 
Hearing no more requests for public comment, Mayor Cleworth declared Public Testimony 
closed. 
 
Ms. Stiver stated that the LID Committee did not want the tax revenue to be dedicated to any 
particular entity.  She spoke to the total assessment value and stated that the maximum was set at 
$200,000 to account for a number of different things such as equipment maintenance and City 
administration.  She added that the maximum total assessment was designed to fully fund the 
Clean Team and to partially fund the CSP.  Ms. Stiver stated that she had been opposed to the 
formation of a LID for several years, but changed her mind when she realized that downtown 
business owners need a higher level of service than residents.  She stated that she believes local 
businesses will be on board with the LID program when they understand the process and 
recognize the need for services.  She pointed out that the assessment is based on land value only, 
not structures.   
 
Mr. Roberts asked for clarification on the voting process for the LID.   
 
Ms. Stiver explained that the LID would require a “negative vote” in which information would 
be sent to property owners informing them of an objection period for filing a protest.  She stated 
that if more than 50% of valued property in the LID area is represented by objections, the LID 
would fail.  She further explained that no response would be automatically counted as a “yes 
vote.”  Ms. Stiver stated that Mayor Cleworth has been working on an ordinance that would 
change the LID election process to more of a ballot-type vote.   
 
Mayor Cleworth clarified that the ordinance to change the method for property owner approval 
of a LID is Ordinance No. 5904, under New Business.   
 
Mr. Eberhart asked if the adoption of Ordinance No. 5904 would impact Ordinance No. 5898. 
 
Mayor Cleworth replied that he became concerned with the election process for the LID when 
the discussion at the Finance Committee became more about the “voting” than the creation of the 
LID.  He stated that the negative election set forth in City Code is a rather bizarre system that he 
believes needs to be changed.   
 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 13 of 144



 

 

City of Fairbanks NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT October 22, 2012 
Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 11 of 21 

Ms. Stiver explained that the actual LID election would not take place until 2-3 months after the 
merging of Festival Fairbanks and the DTA.  She indicated that this would allow enough time to 
observe how the new organization is operating.   
 
Mr. Roberts pointed out that the attachment to Ordinance No. 5898 sets the closing date for the 
objection filing period as March 30, 2013.   
 
Ms. Stiver explained that if Ordinance No. 5904 passed changing the election process, the 
election dates would remain the same.   
 
Mr. Ewers clarified that Section 4 of Ordinance No. 5898 states that the creation of the LID is 
subject to FGC Section 58-39, which is the section of City Code that Ordinance No. 5904 would 
amend.   
 
Mayor Cleworth explained that Ordinance No. 5904 is intended to change the election process 
so that votes will be taken in a ballot format.   
 
Mr. Hilling argued that the proposed election process being discussed is not a traditional vote 
system.  He explained that a traditional vote system does not count those who do not vote.  He 
stated that his understanding of the new voting system as described in Ordinance No. 5904 is that 
a non-response would count as a negative vote.  He stated that he is not in agreement with that 
voting process.   
 
Mr. Roberts spoke to the weighted vote and pointed out that, technically, a handful of property 
owners could decide the LID vote.   
 
Mr. Hilling asked if there has been thought given to the possibility of making the entire budget 
for clean and safe services $200,000. 
 
Ms. Stiver stated that she was unclear as to what Mr. Hilling was asking.   
 
Mr. Hilling inquired as to the total current budget for the Clean Team and the CSP. 
 
Ms. Stiver replied that the original $200,000 maximum assessment came about in an effort to 
fully fund the Clean Team and partially fund the CSP.  She stated that it was the LID 
Committee’s intent for the total assessment to cover the cost of services and administration and 
not to tax for the maximum amount, unless necessary.   
 
Mr. Hilling asked if bidding out the snow removal portion of services to contractors would be a 
possibility.   
 
Ms. Stiver stated that she has noticed the Clean Team removing hard-pack and snow mounds, 
but has only seen Mr. Turney performing snow removal in her area downtown.   
 
Mr. Hilling expressed concern that the creation of the LID as written would interfere with local 
snow removal businesses.   
 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 14 of 144



 

 

City of Fairbanks NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT October 22, 2012 
Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 12 of 21 

Mayor Cleworth stated that the Clean Team uses an ATV to clear a simple sidewalk path after a 
heavy snowfall.  He stated the Clean Team does not do a thorough job and that snow removal 
services are still needed.   He stated that the Clean Team does not supplant private snow removal 
businesses and that Mr. Turney speaks up whenever anyone “steps on his toes.” 
 
Mr. Eberhart addressed Section 2 of Ordinance No. 5898 where it states that “The Mayor shall 
enter into a Letter of Agreement…”  He discussed the repercussions of using the word “shall” 
and questioned whether or not City employees should be prohibited from performing the 
services.   
 
Ms. Stiver spoke to the LID Committee’s reasoning behind the language in Section 2.  She 
stated that an Advisory Board made up of LID property owners would advise the Mayor on the 
selection of the entity and the terms of the agreement between the City and the managing 
organization.   
 
Mayor Cleworth stated that, as Mayor, he would rely heavily on the Advisory Board in regards 
to the managing entity and contract because they represent the stakeholders of the LID.    
 
A ROLL CALL VOTE WAS TAKEN ON THE MOTION TO ADOPT ORDINANCE NO. 
5898, AS FOLLOWS: 

YEAS:  Hilling, Eberhart, Roberts, Stiver, Matherly, Gatewood 
NAYS: None 
Mayor Cleworth declared the MOTION CARRIED and 
Ordinance No. 5898  ADOPTED. 

 
c) Ordinance No. 5899 – An Ordinance Amending FGC Section 58-34(a) Regarding Limits 

on Funding for Local Improvement Districts for Services.  Introduced by Council 
Member Stiver.  SECOND READING AND PUBLIC HEARING.   

 
Ms. Stiver, seconded by Mr. Roberts, moved to ADOPT Ordinance No. 5899.   
 
Mayor Cleworth called for Public Testimony. 
 
Frank Turney, 201 7th Avenue, Fairbanks – Mr. Turney stated that the Clean Team does more 
snow removal in the downtown area than what Ms. Stiver indicated.   
 
Hearing no more requests for public comment, Mayor Cleworth declared Public Testimony 
closed. 
 
Mr. Hilling asked for clarification on what Ordinance No. 5899 would change.   
 
Mayor Cleworth replied that the ordinance was brought about by a concern that City funding 
for the program, which was promised for four years, would be void unless a change was made to 
the Code.   He asked Mr. Ewers to speak to the issue.   
 
Mr. Ewers explained that during the LID Committee meetings, members recognized a conflict 
between FGC Section 58-34(a) and the $50,000 allocated to the CSP for 2011 through 2014.  He 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 15 of 144



 

 

City of Fairbanks NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT October 22, 2012 
Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 13 of 21 

stated that without a change to FGC 58-34(a), it is likely that the City’s contribution to the CSP 
would have to stop upon implementation of the LID.  He stated that Ordinance No. 5899 would 
allow the Council to choose to continue the contribution until 2014.  He explained that without 
the Code change, there is a good argument that funding would have to stop.   
 
Ms. Stiver clarified that if the LID is approved by property owners in March of 2013, taxes 
would not be collected until 2014 based on the prior year’s assessment.   
 
A ROLL CALL VOTE WAS TAKEN ON THE MOTION TO ADOPT ORDINANCE NO. 
5899, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

YEAS:  Eberhart, Gatewood, Stiver, Hilling, Matherly, Roberts 
NAYS: None 
Mayor Cleworth declared the MOTION CARRIED and 
Ordinance No. 5899  ADOPTED. 

 
2012 MUNICIPAL ELECTION 
 
a) Council Members’ Comments 
 
Ms. Stiver stated that prior to her six years of service on the City Council, she had never 
entertained the thought of serving in local government.  She expressed thankfulness to City 
voters who provided her with the opportunity to serve.  She stated that she has learned a great 
deal and has made more friends than she has lost along the way.  Ms. Stiver commented that 
City staff has been consistently responsive, courteous and gracious in educating her and 
answering her questions about local government.  She pointed out that City staff must constantly 
educate elected officials, which she now understands and takes part in at her day job.  She 
thanked fellow Council Members for allowing her to enjoy her time on the Council.  She recalled 
her first trip to an AML Conference in Juneau with Mr. Roberts her first year on the Council and 
commented on how much she has learned since that time.   
 
Mr. Roberts thanked the citizens of Fairbanks for electing him to the City Council for two 
terms.  He stated that he has learned a great deal about local government.  He spoke to the 
revenue crisis that the City had when he was first elected to the Council.  Mr. Roberts stated 
that he is proud of his accomplishments on the Council and that he has always based his 
decisions on what he believed was the right thing to do.  He thanked Mayor Cleworth for his 
guidance and leadership both as a Council Member and as the Mayor.  Mr. Roberts thanked his 
family for attending the meeting and wished Ms. Staley and Mr. Walley the best of luck.   
 
Mr. Gatewood thanked Ms. Stiver and Mr. Roberts for their service on the Council stating that 
it has been a pleasure to work with them.  He recalled when he was appointed to the Council in 
2008 and to his interactions with Ms. Stiver at that time.  He commented that there seem to be no 
“clicks” amongst the Council Members.  He stated that he looks forward to working with Ms. 
Staley and Mr. Walley.   
 
Mr. Eberhart thanked Ms. Stiver and Mr. Roberts for being strong Council Members and for 
their work on City Boards and Commissions.  He commented that the Council often agrees on 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 16 of 144



 

 

City of Fairbanks NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT October 22, 2012 
Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 14 of 21 

issues and works very efficiently as a body.  He stated that even when members disagree, they 
are still civil to one another and that it takes cooperation and an open mind to serve as a Council 
Member.  Mr. Eberhart spoke to the serious role of serving on the Council and to the heavy 
weight to many of their decisions.  He commended fellow Council Members and the Mayor for 
“weathering the economic storm” that began in 2008 and for keeping the City in good financial 
shape.   
 
Mr. Hilling spoke to collectivism and thanked the public for participating in City Council 
Meetings.  He applauded Ms. Stiver for being active and informed on issues and the committees 
she has served on.  He spoke briefly to the creation of the LID.  Mr. Hilling spoke to Mr. 
Roberts’ gravitas and sincerity when it comes to his duties as a Council Member.  He spoke to 
how quickly Mr. Roberts and Ms. Stiver learned and understood things when they were newly-
elected.  He commented that his fellow Council Members are genuine people and independent 
thinkers and wished the departing members the best.   
 
Mr. Matherly recalled when he was first elected and stated how he was the only new Council 
Member to join that year.  He commented that all the Council Members were encouraging to him 
at that time.  He spoke to the value of Ms. Stiver and Mr. Roberts’ friendship and to their 
intelligence and sincerity.  Mr. Matherly spoke to civility, courtesy and respect during public 
meetings, from not only the Council but also the citizens.  He commented that he may need to 
grow “thicker skin” and gave a warm welcome to Mr. Perry and Ms. Staley.  He reminded 
everyone that there will be a debate at the Carlson Center October 23, 2012.   
 
Mayor Cleworth asked Mr. Roberts to give a report on the last FMATS Policy Committee 
Meeting.   
 
FMATS Policy Committee - Mr. Roberts provided a brief report of the October 17, 2012 
meeting.  He mentioned various projects that money had been allocated to and spoke to the way 
the federal government has changed the way it distributes funds to entities like the Metropolitan 
Planning Organization (MPO) and the state.  He commented that federal money is shrinking.   
 
b) Certification of the 2012 Municipal Election Results 
 
Ms. Hovenden distributed the Certification of the 2012 Municipal Election and asked Council 
Members to sign.  She read the Certification into the record.   
 
Mayor Cleworth called for a brief recess.   
 
c) Oaths of Office 
 
Ms. Hovenden swore in newly-elected Council Members Renee Staley and Perry Walley.   
 
Mr. Walley and Ms. Staley assumed their seats on the City Council.   

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 17 of 144



 

 

City of Fairbanks NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT October 22, 2012 
Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 15 of 21 

NEW BUSINESS 
 
a) Ordinance No. 5900 – An Ordinance Amending FGC Chapter 74, Taxation, Article III, 

Alcohol Beverage Sales Tax, Sections 74-69, 74-73(a), 74-73(d)-(e), 74-74.1(a), and 74-
82(a)-(c) to Modify Factors Relating to Taxes Due and the Penalty Structure.  Introduced 
by Mayor Cleworth. 

 
  ADVANCED on the CONSENT AGENDA. 
 
b) Ordinance No. 5901 – An Ordinance Amending FGC Chapter 74, Taxation, Article IV, 

Hotel/Motel Tax, Sections 74-121, 74-125(a), 74-125(d)-(e), 74-127(a), and 74-135(a)-
(c) to Modify Factors Relating to Taxes Due and the Penalty Structure.  Introduced by 
Mayor Cleworth. 

 
ADVANCED on the CONSENT AGENDA. 

 
c) Ordinance No. 5902 – An Ordinance Amending FGC Chapter 74, Taxation, Article V, 

Tobacco Products Distribution and Excise Tax, Sections 74-154(a), 74-154(d)-(e), 74-
154.2(a), and 74-157(a)-(c) to Modify Factors Relating to Taxes Due and the Penalty 
Structure.  Introduced by Mayor Cleworth.   

 
ADVANCED on the CONSENT AGENDA. 

 
d) Ordinance No. 5903 – An Ordinance Amending FGC Chapter 34, Article VI, Section 34-

201, to Allow Replacement of Hydronic Heaters.  Introduced by Council Member Stiver.   
 

ADVANCED on the CONSENT AGENDA.   
 
e) Ordinance No. 5904 – An Ordinance Amending FGC Section 58-39 Regarding the 

Method for Property Owner Approval of Local Improvement Districts.  Introduced by 
Mayor Cleworth 

 
ADVANCED on the CONSENT AGENDA.   

 
f) Resolution No. 4598 – A Resolution Supporting a Request for State of Alaska Funding to 

Reconstruct South Cushman Street from 15th Avenue to Mitchell Expressway.  Hand-
carried.  Introduced by Mayor Cleworth. 

 
Mr. Gatewood, seconded by Mr. Matherly, moved to APPROVE Resolution No. 4598. 
 
Mayor Cleworth explained that last year the City made a request to be in Governor Parnell’s 
budget for some road construction funding.  He stated that the City has not be included in the 
Governor’s budget for some time.  He spoke to various areas that have been improved due to that 
funding.  Mayor Cleworth stated that South Cushman Street is in bad shape and has been on the 
City’s “wish list” for improvements for decades.  He explained that DOT has recently improved 
that section of Cushman Street from the Mitchell Expressway to Sanduri Avenue and that the 
City has scheduled improvements in 2013 on South Cushman Street from Airport Way to the 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 18 of 144



 

 

City of Fairbanks NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT October 22, 2012 
Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 16 of 21 

Chena River, which may be the worst segment of Cushman Street.  He spoke to the Illinois 
Street project which connects to Cushman.  He stated that there is a meeting scheduled with the 
Governor in Fairbanks on October 23, 2012, and indicated that it may be a good time to present 
the project to him.   
 
A ROLL CALL VOTE WAS TAKEN ON THE MOTION TO APPROVE RESOLUTION NO. 
4598, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

YEAS:  Matherly, Hilling, Walley, Staley, Gatewood, Eberhart 
NAYS: None 
Mayor Cleworth declared the MOTION CARRIED and 
Resolution No. 4598 APPROVED. 

 
DISCUSSION ITEMS 
 
a) Committee Reports 
 
Public Safety Commission (PSC) – Mr. Eberhart stated that the PSC met on October 9, 2012.  
He spoke to the staff reports given by FFD and FPD.  He referenced a binder given to Committee 
Members by Chief Zager concerning the consolidation of staff by cross-training police and fire 
service personnel.  He stated that the cross-training issue will be discussed further at the next 
PSC meeting on November 13, 2012.    
 
b) Committee Appointments 
 
Mayor Cleworth spoke to Committee vacancies created by the departure of Ms. Stiver and Mr. 
Roberts.  He listed the current Council Members seated on various Boards and Commissions:  
Chad Roberts previously seated on the FMATS Policy Committee; Vivian Stiver previously the 
Chair of the Hotel/Motel Discretionary Fund Committee and the City Representative to the 
Borough Assembly; Lloyd Hilling sitting on the Fairbanks Convention and Visitor’s Bureau 
(FCVB) Board, Jim Matherly sitting on the Fairbanks Parking Authority Board, John Eberhart 
sitting on the Public Safety Commission; and Bernard Gatewood sitting on the Permanent Fund 
Board.  He stated that if anyone wishes to change their membership to a Board or Commission, 
now would be the time to make a request.   
 
Mr. Matherly expressed interest in serving on the FMATS Policy Committee or the FCVB 
Board.   
 
Mr. Hilling indicated that the FCVB Board meeting times are difficult to attend due to his 
schedule.  He asked Mayor Cleworth how often and at what times the Hotel/Motel Discretionary 
Fund Committee meets.   
 
Mayor Cleworth replied that the Discretionary Fund Committee will begin meeting soon to 
review this year’s grant applications.  He stated that chairing that Committee is a lot of work, but 
only for a short period of time.   
 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 19 of 144



 

 

City of Fairbanks NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT October 22, 2012 
Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 17 of 21 

Mr. Hilling stated his interest in the Hotel/Motel Discretionary Fund Committee, but indicated 
that he would be unavailable on Thursday evenings due to his teaching schedule.   
 
Mr. Eberhart requested to remain on the PSC.   
 
Mr. Gatewood stated that he was satisfied on the Permanent Fund Review Board, but indicated 
that he would be open to a change, if necessary.  He stated that he would be willing to share the 
responsibility of City representation at Borough Assembly meetings.   
 
Mr. Walley stated that he is the “new kid on the block.”  He stated that he would serve wherever 
Mayor Cleworth saw fit to place him.   
 
Ms. Staley stated that she wouldn’t mind attending Borough Assembly meetings as a City 
Representative.  She expressed an interest in the FCVB Board and added that she would be 
willing to serve on whatever Committee the Mayor chooses.   
 
Mayor Cleworth stated that he will take the requests into consideration and contact Council 
Members with their Committee assignments before the end of the week.   
 
Mayor Cleworth asked Chief Zager to come forward to speak to the new traffic enforcement 
standard at FPD. 
 
Chief Zager distributed a handout to the Mayor and Council titled, “Work Standard 
Justification.”  He spoke to the internal memo he authored regarding the role of patrol officers in 
traffic enforcement.  He stated that after the article on the issue appeared in the News Miner, 
there has been talk in the community about a “quota.”  He explained that there seems to be a 
disconnect between what was actually intended and what people heard.  Chief Zager clarified 
that the intent of the new work standard is to have all patrol officers perform at a similar rate and 
to have officers use their “uncommitted” time to enforce traffic laws rather than preventative 
patrol, which has proven to be less effective.  He stated that the new work standard is not a 
“fundraiser” for FPD, nor was it a recommendation from Mayor Cleworth.  Chief Zager provided 
a brief history of various grants FPD has received for traffic enforcement and spoke to some of 
the conditions that came along with the funding.  He spoke also to past work standards at FPD 
and provided statistics on traffic stops.  He stated that it is likely that the new work standard 
would only increase City revenue by ten citations per week after court cases, equipment 
violations and other factors were taken into account.  He indicated that the only valid argument 
he’s heard against the standard is that it will make the officers busier.  Chief Zager stated that he 
believes the new work standard is very powerful and that it will save lives, save properties, 
reduce crime and make life happier for the general public.  He concluded by saying that it is a 
productive way to bring safety to the City of Fairbanks.   
 
Mr. Gatewood asked Chief Zager what he meant by “uncommitted” time.   
 
Chief Zager replied that “uncommitted” time is the time that patrol officers have between calls 
when they are simply driving around the City.   
 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 20 of 144



 

 

City of Fairbanks NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT October 22, 2012 
Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 18 of 21 

Mr. Gatewood stated that if he is speeding, he slows down when he sees a patrol officer.  He 
indicated that prevention is a debatable issue because it is so difficult to measure and asked how 
it can be proven to work.   
 
Chief Zager cited a Kansas City experiment done in the 1970’s in regard to traffic patrol.  He 
stated that the study showed virtually no change in crime rate in areas with increased patrol.   
 
Mr. Gatewood expressed his confidence in Chief Zager’s management, but indicated that the 
new “quota” does have the public on edge.  He stated that he has had a number of individuals 
approach him in regards to the issue. 
 
Chief Zager clarified that the new work standard requires that each patrol officer make only eight 
traffic contacts in a week’s time.   
 
Mr. Gatewood spoke to the public’s distrust of law enforcement and indicated that the public 
may fear being pulled over for no reason due to the new work standard.   
 
Chief Zager stated that officers must have a valid reason to perform a traffic stop.  He stated that 
he was disappointed that the News Miner referred to the new work standard as a “quota” but 
commended them for the editorial they produced in support of the program.   
 
Mr. Eberhart thanked Chief Zager for providing an explanation of the new work standard and 
expressed hope that the public would come to understand the reasoning behind it.  He spoke in 
support of the standard.   
 
Mr. Hilling asked if City police regularly patrol neighborhoods like the Riverview area. 
 
Chief Zager replied that it may depend on the officer.  He stated that he does not have control 
over the actions or judgments of patrol officers, but expressed hope that his officers are making 
worthwhile traffic stops.   
 
Mr. Hilling stated that eight traffic stops per week seems like a minimal benchmark and 
commended Chief Zager for introducing the work standard.   
 
COMMUNICATIONS TO COUNCIL 
 
a) Chena Riverfront Commission Meeting Minutes of September 12, 2012. 
 
  ACCEPTED on the CONSENT AGENDA.   
 
b) Public Safety Commission Meeting Minutes of July 10, 2012. 
 

ACCEPTED on the CONSENT AGENDA. 
 
c) Appointments to the Public Safety Commission. 
 

APPROVED on the CONSENT AGENDA. 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 21 of 144



 

 

City of Fairbanks NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT October 22, 2012 
Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 19 of 21 

 
d) Reappointment to the Commission on Historic Preservation. 
 

APPROVED on the CONSENT AGENDA.   
 
COUNCIL MEMBERS’ COMMENTS 
 
Ms. Staley stated that she is very excited to serve on the City Council and give back to the 
community where she was born and raised.  She thanked Fairbanks voters for electing her and 
stated that she has an open door policy.  She expressed gratitude to City staff and fellow Council 
Members for the warm welcome. 
 
Mr. Walley thanked everyone for welcoming him to the Council.  He thanked Ms. Stiver and 
Mr. Roberts for their service and expressed his commitment to give his best effort to the City as 
a Council Member.   
 
Mr. Gatewood expressed frustration that the Borough did not adopt the City’s language in the 
gas utility ordinance as the Council had adopted it; he indicated, however, that he did not see any 
changes that were significant enough for concern.   He stated that he would like to hear other 
Council Members’ feelings on the changes.   
 
Mr. Eberhart expressed sympathy in the loss of Ivan Grondin, a Fairbanks pioneer and friend.  
He expressed gratitude to Governor Parnell for his support on the issue of getting cheaper energy 
to Fairbanks and the Interior.  He stated that he hopes the IANGU Board would be a catalyst for 
funding the gas project.  Mr. Eberhart expressed his distaste for actions by the Borough that 
sometimes override or change the City’s recommendations.  He suggested that it is possible that 
the Borough has nullified the transfer by changing the language in the City’s ordinance.  He 
spoke to the limitations placed on the membership qualifications of the IANGU Board of 
Directors and expressed concern that the language may be too diluted.  He stated that he too 
would like to hear his fellow Council Members’ views on the issue.   
 
Mr. Hilling spoke to the gas utility issue, particularly to the idea of creating a “doughnut hole” 
around the City, allowing the City of Fairbanks to create its own utility.  He spoke to the 
subsidization of outlying areas that will fall on the shoulders of City residents and to the 
possibility of overturning the decision to transfer utility power to the Borough.  Mr. Hilling 
recapped Chief Zager’s statistical analysis of the new work standard implemented by FPD.  He 
stated that he has witnessed blatant traffic violations go unpunished when a patrol officer was 
present and expressed support for the new work standard.  He commended the Building 
Department for their interactions with him as a homeowner during the recent construction on his 
home.  He expressed condolences for Stephen Anderson, City Plumbing and Mechanical 
Inspector, who had been hit by a car.   
 
Mr. Matherly stated that he trusts Chief Zager’s judgment on the new work standard and asked 
him to keep a “lookout” for abuses.  He expressed dissatisfaction that the Borough had changed 
the City’s language on the gas utility transfer.  He stated that the City had made its position very 
clear on the conditional transfer in Ordinance No. 5895, as Amended, and indicated that it was 
improper for the Borough to have made changes.  Mr. Matherly stated that he would like to 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 22 of 144



 

 

City of Fairbanks NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT October 22, 2012 
Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 20 of 21 

hear Mr. Ewers’ legal opinion on the issue.  He stated that he will support Mayor Cleworth’s 
appointments to the IANGU Board of Directors.   
 
CITY ATTORNEY’S REPORT 
 
City Attorney Ewers advised that Ordinance No. 5895, as Amended, outlined seven conditions 
for the transfer.  He stated that the Borough included all those conditions in their final ordinance 
and indicated that there is no legal requirement for the Borough to have incorporated the City’s 
ordinance word-for-word in their ordinance.  He stated that the changes in regards to the 
requirements to qualify as an IANGU Board Member appear to be reasonable and that he 
believes the changes are acceptable.  Mr. Ewers clarified that the term “substantial” is commonly 
used in conflict of interest language.   
 
Mr. Hilling stated that he would be inclined to make a motion to rescind Ordinance No. 5895, as 
Amended, if other Council Members showed support for such a motion.   
 
Mayor Cleworth asked the Council what their thoughts were on the two City appointments to 
the IANGU Board of Directors:  Frank Abegg and Michael Meeks.  He explained that the 
ordinance states that the Mayor is to make two initial appointments to the Board with the 
confirmation of the City Council.   
 
Mr. Matherly, seconded by Mr. Gatewood, moved to APPROVE Frank Abegg’s and Michael 
Meeks’ appointments to the IANGU Board of Directors.   
 
A ROLL CALL VOTE WAS TAKEN ON THE MOTION TO APPROVE THE CITY’S 
APPOINTMENTS TO THE IANGU BOARD OF DIRECTORS AS FOLLOWS:   
 

AYES:  Walley, Matherly, Gatewood, Hilling, Eberhart, Staley 
NAYS: None 
Mayor Cleworth declared the MOTION CARRIED.   

 
Mr. Ewers stated that Mr. Eberhart had asked him to comment on the Supreme Court’s ruling on 
private email accounts.  He stated that the information on that court case is included in his City 
Attorney’s Report and offered to answer any questions the Council may have.   
 
Mr. Eberhart commented that if Council Members are using their private email accounts for 
any City business, they should not delete any of those records.   
 
Mr. Ewers confirmed that Mr. Eberhart’s statement was correct.    
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
Mr. Matherly moved to ADJOURN the meeting. 
 

Mayor Cleworth called for objection and, hearing none, so ORDERED. 
 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 23 of 144



 

 

City of Fairbanks NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT October 22, 2012 
Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 21 of 21 

Mayor Cleworth declared the Meeting adjourned at 10:40 P.M. 
 
 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 
      JERRY CLEWORTH, MAYOR 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
JANEY HOVENDEN, CMC, CITY CLERK 
 
Transcribed by:  DS 
 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 24 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 25 of 144



 
State of Alaska  

Alcoholic Beverage Control Board 
 
Date of Notice: October 8, 2012 
   
 
Application Type:                        New       x TRANSFER 
           x Ownership 
            Location 
            Name Change 
 
 

Governing Body: Fairbanks 

Community Councils:  n/a 

License #:  3687 

License Type: Restaurant / Eating Place 

D.B.A.:  Thai House Restaurant 

Licensee/Applicant:  Boonchoo, Inc. 

Physical Location:   412 5th Ave. Fairbanks 

Mail Address:        412 5th Ave.  
Fairbanks, AK 99701 

Telephone #:        Laong 907-452-6123 
    or  Melody Schneider 907-474-1631 

EIN:        92-0162808 

 

Corp/LLC Agent: Address Phone Date and State of 
Incorporation 

Good 
standing? 

Boonchoo, Inc.. 412 5th Ave.  
Fairbanks, AK  

907-452-6123 2/4/1998 yes 

Please note: the Members/Officers/Directors/Shareholders (principals) listed below are the principal members.  There may be 
additional members that we are not aware of because they are not primary members.  We have listed all principal members and 
those who hold at least 10% shares. 

Member/Officer/Director: DOB Address Phone Title/Shares (%) 

Laong Boonprasert 6/1/1961 1581 Hilton Ave.  
Fairbanks, AK 99701 

907-452-6123 Pres. Treas. Sec. 
(100%) 

 
 
If transfer application, current license information: 
 
License #:  3687 
Current D.B.A.: same – Thai House Restaurant 
Current Licensee: Chalermpon Boonprasert (deceased) 
Current Location: same - 412 5th Ave. Fairbanks 
 

Additional comments: Laong Boonprasert is the surving spouse of Chalermpon Boonprasert. 
 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 26 of 144



Page 2 

 
A local governing body as defined under AS 04.21.080(11) may protest the approval of an application(s) pursuant  

to AS 04.11.480 by furnishing the board and the applicant with a clear and concise written statement of reasons in 
support of a protest within 60 days of receipt of this notice.  If a protest is filed, the board will not approve the application 
unless it finds that the protest is “arbitrary, capricious and unreasonable”.  Instead, in accordance with AS 04.11.510(b), 
the board will notify the applicant that the application is denied for reasons stated in the protest.  The applicant is entitled 
to an informal conference with either the director or the board and, if not satisfied by the informal conference, is entitled 
to a formal hearing in accordance with AS 44.62.330-44.62-630. IF THE APPLICANT REQUESTS A HEARING, THE LOCAL 
GOVERNING  BODY MUST ASSIST IN OR UNDERTAKE THE DEFENSE OF ITS PROTEST. 
 

Under AS 04.11.420(a), the board may not issue a license or permit for premises in a municipality where a zoning 
regulation or ordinance prohibits the sale or consumption of alcoholic beverages, unless a variance of the regulation or 
ordinance has been approved.  Under AS 04.11.420(b) municipalities must inform the board of zoning regulations or 
ordinances which prohibit the sale or consumption of alcoholic beverages.  If a municipal zoning regulation or ordinance 
prohibits the sale or consumption of alcoholic beverages at the proposed premises and no variance of the regulation or 
ordinance has been approved, please notify us and provide a certified copy of the regulation or ordinance if you have not 
previously done so. 
 

Protest under AS 04.11.480 and the prohibition of sale or consumption of alcoholic beverages as required by 
zoning regulation or ordinance under AS 04.11.420(a) are two separate and distinct subjects. Please bear that in mind in 
responding to this notice. 
 
 AS 04.21.010(d), if applicable, requires the municipality to provide written notice to the appropriate community 
council(s). 
 

If you wish to protest the application referenced above, please do so in the prescribed manner and within the 
prescribed time.  Please show proof of service upon the applicant. For additional information please refer to 15 AAC 
104.145, Local Governing Body Protest. 
 
Note: Applications applied for under AS 04.11.400(g), 15 AAC 104.335(a)(3), AS 04.11.090(e),  
and 15 AAC 104.660(e) must be approved by the governing body.  
 
 
 
SHIRLEY A. COTÉ 
Director 

 
 
 
Maxine Andrews 
Business Registration Examiner 
Direct line: 907-269-0358 

Email: maxine.andrews@alaska.gov 
 

 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 27 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 28 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 29 of 144



Sponsored by: Council Member Stiver   
Introduced: October 22, 2012  

 

 
 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 5903, As Amended 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING FAIRBANKS GENERAL CODE 
CHAPTER 34, ARTICLE VI, SECTION 34-201, TO ALLOW 

REPLACEMENT OF HYDRONIC HEATERS 
 

 WHEREAS, in 2008, the EPA declared part of the Fairbanks North Star Borough a non-
attainment area for fine particulate pollution (PM2.5); and 
 

 WHEREAS, except for a small portion of land along the Tanana River, the entire City of 
Fairbanks is within the non-attainment area; and  
 

 WHEREAS, in 2009, the City enacted Ordinance No. 5775, as amended, that placed a 
moratorium on the installation of hydronic heaters in the City until such time as the City Council 
adopted appropriate standards; and  
 
 WHEREAS, since the passage of Ordinance No. 5775, as amended, the Council has not 
adopted such standards; and 
 
 WHEREAS, new models of hydronic heaters have been certified by the U.S. 
Environmental Protection Agency as meeting federal emission standards; and  
 
 WHEREAS, it is appropriate that owners of hydronic heaters within the City not only be 
allowed to upgrade their current units to EPA approved units but should also be encouraged to do 
so; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the current moratorium on the installation of hydronic heaters is keeping 
the owners of hydronic heaters that were installed before the June 8, 2009, moratorium from 
upgrading their units, 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
FAIRBANKS, ALASKA, as follows:   
 
SECTION 1.  That Fairbanks General Code Chapter 34, Article VI, Section 34-201, is hereby 
amended as follows [new text in underline/bold font]: 
 

Sec. 34-201.  Hydronic heaters.  
 
  No hydronic heater may be installed inside the City of Fairbanks after June 8, 
2009, without a permit issued by the City of Fairbanks Building Department.  
No permit shall be issued until standards are adopted by the Fairbanks City 
Council.  However, permits for the upgrade or replacement of existing 
hydronic heaters may be issued if the upgraded or replacement heater is 
certified by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency as meeting the federal 
emissions limit standard appropriate for that type of appliance or, in the 
event EPA regulations do not address a particular appliance, if the 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 30 of 144



Ordinance No. 5903, As Amended 
Page 2 

replacement appliance’s emissions are improved and demonstrated as such 
by a certified U.S. EPA laboratory or official federal opacity assessment 
method.       
 
 

Section 2. That the effective date of this Ordinance shall be ________________, 2012. 
 
 
             
       Jerry Cleworth, City Mayor 
 
 
AYES:   
NAYS:  
ABSENT:  
ADOPTED:  
 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
       _____________________________ 
Janey Hovenden, CMC, City Clerk   Paul J. Ewers, City Attorney 
 
 
 

 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 31 of 144



 Introduced by: Mayor Cleworth 
 Introduced:  November 19, 2012 

 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 4547 
  

A RESOLUTION STATING THE CITY’S CAPITAL PRIORITIES FOR 
THE STATE 2013-14 FISCAL YEAR 

 
WHEREAS, the City is very grateful for the funding provided by the State of Alaska 

which has added significantly to the City’s ability to provide essential services; and 
 
WHEREAS, the support given last year will greatly enhance vitally important road 

maintenance work and enhance additions to our Public Works and Police Station facilities;  and 
 
WHEREAS, the City has identified current and future capital priorities, and the public 

had the opportunity to speak to this Resolution at the November 19, 2012, City Council meeting, 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FAIRBANKS 
RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS:  
 

The legislative priorities of the City of Fairbanks are stated on the attached list.  In 
summary, the projects are ranked as follows: 
 

1. South Cushman Reconstruction 
2. Rickert Subdivision 
3. Local Road Improvements 
4. Heavy Rescue Vehicle 
5. Energy/LED Lights-Fairbanks Police Department 
6. Voice Over IP 
7. Chest Compression System for CPR 

 
 
 PASSED and APPROVED this 19th day of November 2012. 
 

  _____________________________ 
  Jerry Cleworth Mayor 
  City of Fairbanks 
 
AYES:    
NAYS:    
ABSENT:  
APPROVED:   
 
ATTEST:  APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
______________________________  _____________________________ 
Janey Hovenden, CMC  Paul Ewers 
City Clerk  City Attorney 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 32 of 144



Resolution No. 4547 
Page 2 of 8 

City of Fairbanks Proposed Projects 

1. *South Cushman Reconstruction:  Option A-$20,560,000 Option B-$3,600,000 
South Cushman Street from Airport Way to the Mitchell has the highest average daily traffic 
(approximately 9,900) of any City public right of way.  There are approximately 90 commercial 
properties fronting this 5,350 foot segment of the South Cushman Corridor, which extends from 
Airport Way south to Van Horn Road and beyond.  Constructed in 1979, the 33 year old asphalt 
concrete driving surface is extensively pot-holed, oxidized and degraded to a condition that is well 
below the City’s ability to effectively patch and maintain.  The narrow concrete sidewalks have 
significantly deteriorated and do not meet Americans with Disabilities Act standards; and much of the 
alignment does not have a storm water drainage system.    
 
Reconstruction of this segment of South Cushman has been in the planning phases since 1985 and 
currently $5 million of FMATS funding has been obligated.  This project can be advanced under the 
following two scenarios: 
 
A) Complete Reconstruction with Utility Improvements:  Based upon the costs of the current 
Illinois Street Reconstruction Project, we estimate the cost to completely reconstruct South Cushman 
at $25,560,000, thus based on current FMATS funding the City will need an additional $20,560,000 
for the project.   Like the Illinois Street project, this project would allow for extensive utility 
relocation and drainage upgrades, which increase the complexity and cost per square foot compared to 
recent “pavement only” projects.  In the past, there had been consideration of widening South 
Cushman; that is no longer within the scope of this project so there will be no right of way issues. 
 

Total Project Cost $ 25,560,000 
Funding Already Secured ($   5,000,000) 
FY2014 State Funding Request $ 20,560,000 

 
B) Rehabilitation with Limited Utility Improvements:  This limited approach would reconstruct 
sidewalks, paved driving surfaces and upgrade sewer and water mains and services where applicable.  
However, this project will not address the aged poles that are in conflict with sidewalks and driveway 
accesses to businesses and aerial overhead power and communications line crossings and service 
drops that do not meet current minimum height requirements, nor will it improve pedestrian facilities 
and inadequate driveway accesses to businesses.  Our estimate to rehabilitate South Cushman is 
$8,600,000, of which $5 million has been previously been made available.     
 

Total Project Cost $  8,600,000 
Funding Already Secured ($  5,000,000) 
FY2014 State Funding Request $  3,600,000 

 
The City of Fairbanks manages 343 lane miles of driving surface within the City limits, plus 
sidewalks, streetlights, traffic signals and an extensive storm water management system with 95 miles 
of storm drain piping.  No other City-maintained street is as heavily used as South Cushman. 
See attachment.   
 
* This project has also been submitted for inclusion in the Governor’s Budget. 
 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 33 of 144



Resolution No. 4547 
Page 3 of 8 

2.  Rickert Subdivision:  $3,554,850 
17,742 linear feet of City streets (3.36 miles) including 14th Avenue, 15th Avenue, 16th Avenue, 17th 
Avenue, 18th Avenue, Schaible Street, Laurene Street, Turner Street, Mary Ann Street, Rickert Street, 
Stacia Street (excluded Cushman Street, Airport Way, Gillam Way, Barnette Street, Gaffney Road).  
Construction comprises 26 to 30 foot typical section with drainage improvements, no sewer or water 
upgrades. 
 
This is the only road project that was not funded in the capital budget requests last year.   
 

 Survey, Engineering Design and Construction Management:  $450,000 
 Construction:  $175/linear foot by 17,742 linear feet = $3,104,850. 

 
3.  Local Road Improvements:  $1,000,000 
The City of Fairbanks manages 343 lane miles of driving surface within the City limits in addition to 
sidewalks, the streetlight and traffic signal system, and an extensive storm water management system 
that includes 95 miles of storm drain piping, 500 manholes, 2,516 catch basins, and 77 outfalls to the 
Chena River or Noyes Slough.  Many of the streets we currently maintain have been taken over from 
the State of Alaska, relieving them of ongoing maintenance and snow removal. 
 
The majority of local City streets were constructed in the mid-1970s, thus average age of the local 
neighborhood streets within the City limits is now approximately 35 years.  Due to the age and 
extreme climactic conditions, many of these local streets are extensively pot-holed and the asphalt 
surfaces have oxidized and degraded to a condition that is beyond the City’s ability to effectively 
patch and maintain. 
 
The City has budgeted each year for road upgrades and maintenance, and we have focused on a goal 
of trying to retain a maintenance schedule that will at least stay current with our needs and not go 
backwards.  Unfortunately, too many lane miles are nearing the end of their lives at the same time 
causing us real concern. 
 
Two years ago, we were fortunate enough to receive $3.5 million from the State.  These funds were 
used for two areas of town that needed serious work, Aurora Subdivision and parts of Hamilton 
Acres.  We are extremely proud of the work we did with very minimal overhead and are constantly 
looking for ways to make a dollar stretch. 

 
Citywide Collector Street Improvements             $1 Million 

 
Our request is aimed at collector streets within the various subdivisions in the City of Fairbanks 
which are vital to the infrastructure within the City.  These collector streets carry a significantly 
higher volume of daily traffic than local neighborhood streets, support busses and higher numbers of 
service vehicles, and thus incur significantly more wear, develop high numbers of pot holes, require 
more intensive storm drain maintenance, annual striping and frequent sign maintenance.   
 
The City Public Works Department can handle local neighborhood streets that have light traffic by 
simply doing a pavement overlay, which we budget for each year.  Overlay technique will not work 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 34 of 144



Resolution No. 4547 
Page 4 of 8 

on the majority of collector streets due to curb, gutter pan, storm drain inlet elevations that cannot 
change.  In addition, the reconstruction of a collector street requires a much more intensive and 
involved traffic control plan than do local roads.   
 
Collector streets that are viable candidates to be addressed under this type of project would include 
Aurora Drive; portions of Ivy Drive, Sunset Drive, Park Drive and Coppet Street; Lathrop Street, 
17th/19th Avenues between Cowles Street and South Cushman Street; Farewell Avenue; 5th Avenue 
from Barnette to Noble Streets; D Street, Joyce Drive, Hanson Road, and Moore Street.    
 
4.  Heavy Rescue Vehicle:  $625,000 
Replace current first line light duty rescue vehicle with a heavy duty rescue apparatus.  The new 
apparatus will enhance crew safety, increase pay load, add more storage, and be easier to maintain 
with a hinged cab. 

Total Project Cost  $ 775,000 
Funding Already Secured ($ 150,000) 
FY2014 State Funding Request  $ 625,000 

Details: 
Project costs $775,000:  this is based on the lowest of the three estimates obtained last year, based on 
list price. 
Funding already secured:  the Fairbanks Fire Department has the $150,000 match in its Capital 
Account dedicated to rescue vehicle replacement. 
 
Detailed Project Description and Justification: 
The City of Fairbanks Fire Department is requesting grant funding to replace its current light duty fire 
rescue vehicle with a heavier duty fire rescue vehicle.  Our current rescue rig is out of room for 
additional equipment to be carried and is 5% over its gross vehicle weight rating.  We do have 
additional rescue equipment that should be carried on our primary response vehicle that is either in 
storage or on other apparatus.  If we are awarded this grant we will be able to obtain a modern 
apparatus capable of carrying the proper compliment of fire and rescue equipment without worries of 
limited space or weight restrictions.  The additional compartment space will enable us to properly 
store our equipment in safe and secure locations.  The new unit will be built in compliance with 
National Fire Protection standards (NFPA 1901 Standard for Automotive Fire Apparatus 2009 
Edition) and will meet all safety standards and comply with all environmental emission standards. 
 
The present light duty rescue vehicle in service today was originally a 1985 army rescue vehicle that 
was surplussed by them in 1995 and obtained by the City of Fairbanks to replace its 1974 small rescue 
vehicle.  In 1999 the engine compartment caught fire and totaled the chassis, which was replaced by 
the City in 2000.  The original rescue body is now 28 years old and showing its age.  Although the 
maintenance on this vehicle has been acceptable, it has almost tripled during the last five years, 
compared to the previous five years.  See attachment for a comparison of our current vehicle to a 
vehicle similar to the one we are requesting to purchase under this grant. 
 
This vehicle would be the first of its kind in the interior of Alaska.  It will not only provide additional 
weight carrying capacity with a much needed increase in storage space, but also provide for a crew 
space for rescuers to change into survival suits for ice and water rescue.  The elevated light tower 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 35 of 144



Resolution No. 4547 
Page 5 of 8 

would provide much needed emergency scene lighting not only for rescue events, but at fire scenes.  
Another benefit to this vehicle will be to store our confined space rescue equipment on this vehicle 
instead of a separate trailer that must be brought to the scene after the initial response.  We would be 
remiss if we did not point out that this new rescue vehicle will be state of the art and include all safety 
features to allow our firefighters to respond safely and arrive with all the necessary tools to affect a 
rescue, not only for City of Fairbanks residents, but also the rest of the population within the interior 
of Alaska. 
 
5.  Energy Improvement/Conservation Projects-Multiple Facilities: $817,500 
The City of Fairbanks recently obtained an “Investment Grade” Energy Audit for all of it major 
facilities. The Energy Audit identifies the most critical energy improvements for each building, with 
emphasis on reduction of energy costs and rapid rate of return on investment.  In addition to the 
Audit, building HVAC systems were reviewed for energy improvements by a building controls 
consultant.   
 
The following energy retrofit projects are recommended for funding:  
 
Public Works Facility; 2121 Peger Road 
Digital Controls System     $175,000    
Heat Recovery Exchanger     $  25,000 
Replace Fuel-oil Boilers with Natural Gas boilers  $  65,000 
Complete Upgrade to LED Lighting    $169,000  
Public Works Energy Upgrade Total   $434,000 
 
City Police Station; 911 Cushman Street 
HVAC Air Change Sensors and Variable Drives  $  55,000 
Complete Upgrade to LED Lighting    $159,000 
Police Station Energy Upgrade Total   $214,000 
 
Fire Station Headquarters; 1101 Cushman Street 
Upgrade HVAC Air Change Sensors    $  18,000 
Complete LED Lighting Upgrades    $114,500 
Fire Station Headquarters Energy Upgrade Total $132,500 
 
Fire Station No. 3; 1033 Aurora Drive 
Complete LED Lighting Upgrades    $ 12,000 
Upgrade Heating System     $ 25,000 
Fire Station No. 3 Energy Upgrade Total   $ 37,000 
 
6. Voice Over IP: $625,700 
Brief Project Description: 
Replace antiquated, proprietary Centrex telephone service with a Voice Over Internet Protocol (VoIP) 
telephone system. The new system offers improved availability, control, integration, and functionality 
over the existing phone service, while reducing the City’s overall dependency on third party vendors 
for changes, additions and moves. 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 36 of 144



Resolution No. 4547 
Page 6 of 8 

 
Detailed Project Description and Justification: 
The City of Fairbanks Information Technology Department is requesting funds for a Voice Over 
Internet Protocol (VOIP) telephone system upgrade in the amount of $625,700. The project would 
replace a legacy Centrex telephone serviced by installing switching equipment in-house. This will 
greatly increase the survivability of our internal communications compared to Centrex. Most 
operations can be easily performed in-house increasing self-reliance, agility and unlocking many 
functions that are currently controlled by the service provider but takes considerable time due to 
system complexity.  The ability to control our own system at this level will be invaluable in the event 
of a disaster or the need to establish communications/operations quickly in an alternative workspace. 
 
Problem/Needs Statement: 
With our current configuration, a failure at the telephone company central office would completely 
cripple our ability to communicate even amongst ourselves since we have no on-site switching 
equipment.  Emergency management and Continuity of Operations Planning (COOP) are extremely 
important in planning for natural and manmade disasters and communications are key to 
implementing any plan.   
 
The City of Fairbanks’ day-to-day and emergency operations depend upon the ability to communicate 
among its departments and outside agencies to meet its objectives.  Directly calling someone is 
sometimes preferable to email and various City departments have significant distances separating 
them.      
 
We have used all available pairs at City Hall for our required lines and are at the point of needing new 
main cables from the central office to accommodate any possible future growth.  Our current service 
uses a main cable which contains several bad pairs resulting in occasional noisy lines and static 
issues. 
 
History: 
The City of Fairbanks was the former owner of the Fairbanks Municipal Utilities System which 
included the telephone system.  Since the City owned the phone company, it made sense at the time 
not to purchase any PBX or “key” systems for City facilities but rather to utilize Centrex services 
with all lines at every desk coming directly from the telephone Central Office.  After the City divested 
itself of FMUS, we continued to utilize this type of service.  It would be more desirable and efficient 
for us to have our own internal telephone switching equipment.   
 
Technology Overview: 
Voice Over Internet Protocol introduced an innovation in telecommunications: the ability to transmit 
voice over a data network. Traditional phone systems rely on completely separate and dedicated 
wiring. VOIP eliminates this conventional telephone wiring.  The system converts the analog voice 
signal to digital data packets which are then transmitted over the organization’s existing data network. 
An in-house VOIP system then connects to the Public Switched Telephone Network (PSTN), 
allowing calls to and from outside lines.  
 
Technology Benefits: 
This project will leverage the City’s recent and substantial investment to upgrade its network 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 37 of 144



Resolution No. 4547 
Page 7 of 8 

infrastructure to support gigabit transfer speeds by consolidating voice and data traffic onto a single 
modern network. Utilizing existing network infrastructure simply offers more agility than traditional 
phone systems, resulting in productivity gains thanks to improved access, greater flexibility, and a 
more advanced feature set. 
 
Access: 
VOIP allow City employees to take their office with them wherever they go, accessing the system via 
any broadband Internet connection. This anytime, anywhere access is crucial for our mobile 
workforce, accommodating our public safety employees in the field. With VOIP, these critical 
employees can check voicemail and e-mail, access project data, and place calls over a data network 
utilizing a single communication device.  
 
Flexibility:  
VOIP scales immediately to meet the business needs of the City. Employees will be empowered, via 
online interface, to setup call-routing preferences, install new phones, and add additional functionality 
without the aid of the Information Technology Department. Rearranging desktop phones is simply a 
matter of unplugging and moving them to another outlet, there’s no back-office re-wiring necessary.  
 
Functionality:  
Many advanced functions that are either a luxury or unavailable on legacy PBX systems come 
standard with VOIP. These features include advanced call forwarding and electronic messaging, 
custom auto-attendant, three-way conferencing, video-conferencing, and advanced call distributions 
functions such as skill-based call routing.   
 
Lower Costs:  
A streamlined communications infrastructure has the potential to reduce maintenance costs. Aside 
from the inherent benefit of consolidating communications into a single network, a data network is 
more flexible and cheaper to maintain than circuitry and phone lines.  
 
 7. Chest Compression Systems for CPR: $45,000 
Brief Description of the Project:  Purchase of three chest compression systems will allow us to 
place one in each of our three active ambulances.  These devices will enhance advanced life support 
care provided to cardiac arrest patients and reduce risk of injury to personnel while performing CPR. 

Total Project Cost (3 @ $15,000) $ 45,000. 

Details: 
 Project cost: $45000, this is based on the current market information available. 
 Funding already secured:  None 
 FY14 State Funding Request:  $45,000.  This amount is based on our estimated cost. 
 Other Funding Requests:  There are no other requests in for this equipment. 
 Additional Funding Required:  There will be no additional funding requests for this project.     

 
Detailed Project Description and Justification: 
The City of Fairbanks Fire Department is requesting grant funding to purchase three units, one for 
each of our Advanced Life Support (ALS) ambulances.  These devices will directly improve patient 
survivability and reduce risk of paramedic injury for CPR performed in the field and during transport. 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 38 of 144



Resolution No. 4547 
Page 8 of 8 

 
The purpose of CPR during a cardiac arrest is to move the blood around to keep organs working and 
provide oxygen to the brain, improving the likelihood of the return of spontaneous circulation.  The 
American Heart Association has correlated better chest compressions with better patient outcomes.  A 
mechanical chest compression system is becoming part of the gold standard for ALS care, as it 
provides effective, consistent and uninterrupted compressions.  Manual CPR is strenuous physical 
labor and fatigue soon affects the ability to deliver compressions in a steady and consistent manner at 
the appropriate rate and depth.  Several studies show that the effectiveness of manual chest 
compressions can drop rapidly due to rescuer fatigue – even within the first few minutes.  This 
requires frequent changes in personnel providing the compressions.  Each of those interruptions 
breaks the cycle and has an impact on the blood flow.  Many emergency rooms have these devices as 
they recognize, even in that controlled environment, the importance of maintaining good blood flow 
through constant, uninterrupted compressions. 

 
Fairbanks Fire currently dispatches extra personnel to all potential cardiac arrests, in part to support 
the additional resources needed to perform manual chest compressions during CPR.  Ambulances 
equipped with a mechanical device to provide chest compressions would allow resources to be freed 
up to perform other elements of the treatment for victims of sudden cardiac arrest, such as intubation 
for airway management, IV access and medication therapies, and stabilize the patient sooner to initiate 
quicker transport to the hospital.   

 
A mechanical compression system is incredibly useful to maintaining the blood flow during the 
movement process, as it is nearly impossible to perform consistent, effective compressions manually 
as you are walking alongside a patient being moved from the scene into the ambulance for transport.  
During transport to the hospital, this device is able to continue the delivery of those compressions, 
unaffected by the moving vehicle.  Paramedic safety is significantly increased as they can remain seat-
belted in rather that struggling to maintain their balance while bending over a gurney to perform 
compressions in a moving ambulance. 
 

 
 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 39 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 40 of 144



Legislative Request – 2013 Capital Project – Heavy Rescue Apparatus  

Page 1 of 9 

Project Title:  Purchase of a Heavy Duty Rescue Apparatus 

FY2014 State Funding Request:  $625,000 

Brief Description of the Project:  Replace current first line light duty rescue vehicle with a heavy duty 
rescue apparatus.  The new apparatus will enhance crew safety, increase pay load, add more storage, 
and be easier to maintain with a hinged cab. 

Project Type:  Equipment 

Funding Plan: 
Total Project Cost $ 775,000. 
Funding Already Secured ($ 150,000.) 
FY2014 State Funding Request ($ 625,000.) 
Project Deficit: -0- 

Details: 
 Project costs $260,000:  this is based on the lowest of the three estimates obtained last year, 

based on list price. 
 Funding already secured:  the Fairbanks Fire Department has the $150,000 match in its Capital 

Account dedicated to rescue vehicle replacement. 
 FY14 State Funding Request:  $625,000.  This amount is based on our estimated costs less our 

$150,000 match. 
 Other Funding Requests:  There are no other requests in for a heavy rescue vehicle. 
 Additional Funding Required:  There will be no additional funding requests for this project.     

 
Detailed Project Description and Justification: 

The City of Fairbanks Fire Department is requesting grant funding to replace its current light 
duty fire rescue vehicle with a heavier duty fire rescue vehicle.  Our current rescue rig is out of room 
for additional equipment to be carried and is 5% over its gross vehicle weight rating.  We do have 
additional rescue equipment that should be carried on our primary response vehicle that is either in 
storage or on other apparatus.  If we are awarded this grant we will be able to obtain a modern 
apparatus capable of carrying the proper compliment of fire and rescue equipment without worries of 
limited space or weight restrictions.  The additional compartment space will enable us to properly 
store our equipment in safe and secure locations.  The new unit will be built in compliance with 
National Fire Protection standards (NFPA 1901 Standard for Automotive Fire Apparatus 2009 
Edition) and will meet all safety standards and comply with all environmental emission standards. 

The present light duty rescue vehicle in service today was originally a 1985 army rescue vehicle 
that was surplused by them in 1995 and obtained by the City of Fairbanks to replace its 1974 small 
rescue vehicle.  In 1999 the engine compartment caught fire and totaled the chassis, which was 
replaced by the City in 2000.  The original rescue body is now 28 years old and showing its age.  
Although the maintenance on this vehicle has been acceptable, it has almost tripled during the last 
five years, compared to the previous five years.  See Attachment A for a comparison of our current 
vehicle to a vehicle similar to the one we are requesting to purchase under this grant. 

This vehicle would be the first of its kind in the interior of Alaska.  It will not only provide 
additional weight carrying capacity with a much needed increase in storage space, but also provide 
for a crew space for rescuers to change into survival suits for ice and water rescue.  The elevated 
light tower would provide much needed emergency scene lighting not only for rescue events, but at 
fire scenes.  Another benefit to this vehicle will be to store our confined space rescue equipment on 
this vehicle instead of a separate trailer that must be brought to the scene after the initial response.  
We would be remiss if we did not point out that this new rescue vehicle will be state of the art and 
include all safety features to allow our firefighters to respond safely and arrive with all the necessary 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 41 of 144



Legislative Request – 2013 Capital Project – Heavy Rescue Apparatus  

Page 2 of 9 

tools to affect a rescue, not only for City of Fairbanks residents, but also the rest of the population 
within the interior of Alaska. 

The City of Fairbanks Fire Department is requesting funds for a rescue vehicle upgrade in the 
amount of $625,000. 

 
Project Management 

The Project Manager is Chief Warren Cummings.  He has been with the City of Fairbanks Fire 
Department for over 40 years and has been the head of the department for the past 18 years.  Chief 
Cummings has been the project manager on a variety of state and federal grants.  He is responsible 
for the annual budget as well as 44 full-time employees.  In 2007, Chief Cummings completed a two 
year term as President of the Alaska Fire Chiefs Association.  He served as the Alaska Vice 
President for the Western Fire Chiefs Association for three years which covers a 10 state region.  He 
is now serving on the International Association of Fire Chiefs and is a member of the Constitution, 
Bylaws and Resolution Committee.  He reports to the Mayor and as needed the Chief of Staff. 
 

Project Staff 
The City of Fairbanks manages over 50 federal and state grants every year.  The City has an 
experienced staff that is familiar with state and federal grant guidelines and has completed the 
required audits with no findings identified.  The City of Fairbanks has established and maintained a 
financial management system to ensure: 
 there are accurate, current, and complete disclosure of the financial results of the grant; 
 there are effective controls over and accountability for all grant funds and property acquired  

with grant funds; 
 there are accurate comparison of actual and budgeted amounts; 
 that the accounting records, which are supported by source documentation, adequately identify 

the nature and use of, grant funds; 
 there are separate financial records for the accounting of funds related to the grant; 
 there are procedures to ensure timely reporting and receipt of grant funds; and 
 that an audit is conducted every year in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. 
 
The Fairbanks Fire Department has experience with emergency services grants awarded through 
various agencies such as the U.S. Department of Homeland Security and the State of Alaska.  The 
department has experience with financial and programmatic requirements of grantors and has been 
successful in achieving their goals.  The following individuals will also be working on the project: 
 
Specifications Committee:  The committee is comprised of two individuals, Battalion Chief Brian 
Davis and Captain Scott Raygor.  BC Davis and Captain Raygor have a combined 29 years of 
experience with the Fairbanks Fire Department.  Both men attended a seminar on apparatus 
specifications.  The committee is part of the Fairbanks Fire Department and will assist in the 
development of the bid and selection of the vendor.  The committee will report directly to the Project 
Manager. 
 
Grants Administration:  Margarita Bell, CPA, CMA began her position as the grants administrator at 
the City in 2008.  Prior to that time she worked in a non-profit organization and was responsible for 
managing and administering federal grants.   Margarita works in the finance department and is 
responsible for the timely financial grant reporting and enforcing grant conditions.  She works 
closely with the project managers and department administrators to accomplish the goals of each 
grant.  She also maintains the capital assets list for the City of Fairbanks which includes all assets, 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 42 of 144



Legislative Request – 2013 Capital Project – Heavy Rescue Apparatus  

Page 3 of 9 

whose value exceeds $5,000, that were purchased using grant funds.  She reports directly to the 
Chief Financial Officer, and as needed, the Mayor and the Chief of Staff. 
 
See Attachment B - Organizational Structure Charts. 
 

Executive Summary 
 The City of Fairbanks’ goal is to increase public safety by purchasing a fire rescue vehicle capable 
of providing efficiency in rescue incidents for residents.  Considerable work has gone into the 
planning and preparation of this project, which positions us for quick implementation of the project 
should it be funded. 

The City of Fairbanks Fire Department has the bid specification already developed for a new fire 
rescue vehicle.  If we are successful in being awarded this grant, it will be first presented to the City 
Council in resolution form to be formally accepted.  We then estimate it will take about 30 days to 
finalize the bid documents and another 60 days to complete the bid process.  This would be followed 
by a 30 day bid review process, and final award by the City Council as this project is over the 
Mayor’s $500,000 authorization limit.  Based on our recent history of new fire vehicle orders, it will 
take 12 months to build and deliver the new vehicle, followed by 60 days to arrange the equipment  
on it and train the fire fighters on its proper operation and handling through drivers training.   
 
Problem/Needs Statement:  The City of Fairbanks is located in the heart of Alaska’s interior on the 
banks of the Chena River in the Tanana Valley.  The city has a population of approximately 32,500 
and is the second largest city in the State of Alaska.  In addition, residents from the Fairbanks North 
Star Borough visit the City of Fairbanks daily.  When combined with the city population, it brings 
the total population to 93,779 (Source:  2009 Alaska Population Overview).  Large numbers of 
tourists also visit the City of Fairbanks throughout the summer months (estimated 325,000) as 
Fairbanks is at the confluence of the Richardson, Parks, Steese and Elliot Highways which connect 
Anchorage, Canada, and the lower 48 states.  This equates to even more traffic flow throughout our 
community.  See Attachment C graphs for total run volume and area EMS activity. 
 The Fire Department provides fire, rescue, and paramedic level pre-hospital emergency care with 
transportation via ambulance.  The Fire Department is currently using a Ford F-450 for our rescue 
vehicle and has discovered we are over our gross vehicle weight ratings (GVWR).  The GVWR of 
our current vehicle is 14,000 pounds and that of a heavy rescue vehicle will be 38,600 pounds, which 
will increase our carrying capacity by 275% for crew, equipment and supplies. 
 The Fairbanks Fire Department is a member of an area wide mutual aid agreement between all of 
our surrounding fire departments.  This vehicle will be part of the resources available to departments 
in that agreement.  Our mutual aid agreement is with two Federal fire departments, one student based 
fire department, one airport fire department, five combination/volunteer fire departments and one 
fire brigade.  Within the ten mutual aid fire protection districts we have the Trans Alaska Oil 
pipeline (of national interest), a university campus, two military installations, two petrochemical 
plants, three major airports (two military), a railroad yard and many significant target hazards.  This 
vehicle will not only enhance our operations but will also benefit the surrounding community.   
 The heavy duty rescue will increase crew safety, provide better visibility with the addition of 
reflective striping on the rear of the apparatus as outlined in NFPA (National Fire Protection Policy 
Association) 1901 and have increased equipment storage space.  To ensure the safety of first 
responders, staff will be provided commercial vehicle driving classes and road test training on the 
new vehicle by qualified commercial instructors before placing the vehicle in service. 
 
 The U.S. Fire Administration reports that 15% of all fire fighter deaths are responding to and 
from emergency responses.  The NFPA reported a total of 4,965 injuries to fire fighters while 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 43 of 144



Legislative Request – 2013 Capital Project – Heavy Rescue Apparatus  

Page 4 of 9 

responding to or from emergency calls.  Our need is not to add to these national totals but to safely 
save lives by serving the residents and visitors to the interior of Alaska. 
 
Goals:   The Fire Department will endeavor to reduce motor vehicle fatalities by upgrading our 

rescue vehicle to ensure safety of responders and the public by: 
 Improving emergency responder safety through better visibility, up to date safety features, 

improved equipment access, and up to date training by increasing the GVWR from 14,000 to 
38,600 pounds. 

 Improving rescue operations by upgrading a light duty rescue to a heavy duty rescue 
 Improving response to motor vehicle accidents by reducing maintenance time due to the design 

of the heavy rescue vehicle. 
 Ensuring rescue vehicle availability to respond to motor vehicle accidents and other rescue 

incidents by extending the life of our rescue vehicle by eliminating our gross vehicle weight 
overage. 

 
Implementation Plan:  The Project Manager will notify the Mayor and City Council that the grant 
has been awarded.  The Specification Committee will prepare the bid documentation for general 
posting.  Once the bids have been received, the Specification Committee will use the criteria 
established to award the bid.  The vendor selected will have twelve months to construct the rescue 
vehicle.  The Project Manager and/or a Specification Committee member will visit the vendor to 
inspect the rescue vehicle prior to delivery.  Upon receipt, the rescue vehicle will be inspected and 
the fire fighters will be trained.  The rescue apparatus will be placed in service after the appropriate 
staff has been trailed.  The Grants Administrator will report to the State of Alaska as required by the 
grant award. 
 
Risk Management: The heavy duty rescue apparatus is being used by a number of different agencies 
throughout the United States.  This is not a new type of vehicle and should not be considered 
untested technology.  As for unforeseen risk factors, we will not be taking our current rescue vehicle 
out of service until the new vehicle is ready for service and our emergency personnel are trained on 
its operation. 
 

Project Timeline 
The City of Fairbanks Fire Department would develop specifications for this vehicle within 90 days 
of grant award.  The current build time for a heavy duty rescue is 9 to 12 months, which would put 
delivery for this vehicle in the time frame from July to September 2014. 

 
Entity Responsible for Ongoing Operation and Maintenance of this Project: City of Fairbanks 
 
Grant Recipient Contact Info: 

Warren B. Cummings 
1101 Cushman Street 
Fairbanks, AK 99701 
907-450-6604   
wcummings@ci.fairbanks.ak.us 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 44 of 144



Legislative Request – 2013 Capital Project – Heavy Rescue Apparatus Appendix A  

Page 5 of 9 

 
 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 45 of 144



Legislative Request – 2013 Capital Project – Heavy Rescue Apparatus Appendix A  

Page 6 of 9 

 
 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 46 of 144



L
eg

is
la

ti
ve

 R
eq

ue
st

 –
 2

01
3 

C
ap

it
al

 P
ro

je
ct

 –
 H

ea
vy

 R
es

cu
e 

A
pp

ar
at

us
 

A
pp

en
di

x 
A

 
 

P
ag

e 
7 

of
 9

 

 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 47 of 144



Legislative Request – 2013 Capital Project – Heavy Rescue Apparatus Appendix B  

Page 8 of 9 

 
 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 48 of 144



Legislative Request – 2013 Capital Project – Heavy Rescue Apparatus Appendix C  

Page 9 of 9 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Fairbanks Fire Department  
Statistics from our  

2011 Annual Report 
 
 
 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 49 of 144



Introduced by:  Mayor Cleworth 
Council Member Gatewood 

Permanent Fund Review Board Approval: October 31, 2012 
     Introduced:  November 19, 2012 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 5905 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING FAIRBANKS GENERAL CODE 
SECTIONS 2-260 AND 2-261 AND ENACTING 2-262 REGARDING THE 

AUTHORIZED INVESTMENT SELECTIONS OF THE CITY 
PERMANENT FUND INVESTMENT POLICY   

 
WHEREAS, the City Council established the investment policy of the City 

Permanent Fund by terms codified at Fairbanks General Code Sections 2-260 and 2-
261; and 
 

WHEREAS, current policy authorizes an “International Equity” allocation class 
which is defined as replicating the Morgan Stanley Europe, Australasia, Far East 
(“EAFE”) Index; and 

 
WHEREAS, current policy authorizes an “Emerging Markets” asset class which is 

defined as replicating the “MSCI Emerging Market Index;” and 
 
WHEREAS, amending the policy to (a) replicate the International Equity allocation 

against the FTSE Developed ex North America Index, and (b) replicate the Emerging 
Market Index against the FTSE Emerging Market will not materially change 
performance but will help keep investment fees low; and  

 
WHEREAS, proposed Section 2-262 will provide for a procedure to authorize 

interim change of indices in the future; and 
 
WHEREAS, in addition, the City’s investment manager recommends amendment of 

the allocation benchmarks and allocation ranges set in FGC 2-261 to reduce the 
predicted volatility of the entire portfolio; and  

 
WHEREAS, the City Permanent Fund Review Board supports and recommends 

these amendments. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF FAIRBANKS, as follows [new text shown in underline bold font; deleted text in 
strikeout font]: 
 
Sec. 2-260. Permanent fund investment policy, procedure and governance. 

 
(a)  Purpose of fund.  The purpose of the permanent fund is to maximize 
income for capital and operating expenses of the city and preserve in trust 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 50 of 144



Ordinance No. 5905 
Page 2 of 7 

assets of the city for present and future generations of city residents. The 
principal goal shall be to preserve principal and maintain purchasing 
power. 
 
(b)  Investment policy.  The investment policy of the city is to allow only 
the following investment vehicles.  
 

(1)  Obligations of or obligations insured or guaranteed by the United 
States or agencies or instrumentalities of the United States; 
 
(2)  Bonds or other taxable yield U.S. dollar denominated debt instruments 
of this state, its agencies, municipalities, any other state, or corporation 
which at the time of investment have an investment grade rating of a 
nationally recognized rating agency; if the rating of a bond becomes less 
than investment grade and has a maturity greater than one year, it must 
be sold in an orderly manner within 90 days of down grading; 
 
(3)  Bank certificates of deposit which are insured or secured as to the 
payment of principal and interest; 
 
(4)  Corporate obligations of investment grade quality as recognized by a 
nationally recognized rating organization. If, after purchase, these 
obligations are downgraded below investment grade, they shall be sold in 
an orderly manner within ninety days of down grading.  In no circumstance 
shall any bond be purchased after January 1, 2009 with a yield to maturity 
that exceeds 600 basis points above a comparable duration treasury 
note/bond at the date of purchase. 
 
(5)  Short term investment funds (STIF) which are limited to investments 
set forth in subsections (b)(1)--(4) of this section or the Alaska Municipal 
League Investment Pool as set forth in state statute; and 
 
(6)  Domestic equities, which taken as a whole, attempt to replicate the 
Standard & Poor's 500 Index, including both mutual funds and exchange 
traded funds (ETF's). 
 
(7)  International equities, which taken as a whole, attempt to replicate the 
Morgan Stanley Europe, Australasia, Far East (EAFE)FTSE Developed 
ex North America Index, including both mutual funds and exchange 
traded funds (ETF's). 
 
(8)  Equities, which taken as a whole, attempt to replicate the universe of 
domestic real-estate investment trusts, including both mutual funds and 
exchange traded funds (ETF's). 
 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 51 of 144



Ordinance No. 5905 
Page 3 of 7 

(9)  Domestic equities, which taken as a whole, attempt to replicate the S 
& P 400 MidCap Index, including both mutual funds and exchange traded 
funds (ETF's). 
 
(10)  Commodities, which taken as a whole, attempt to replicate a broad 
based commodity index, such as the Dow-Jones UBS Commodity Index, 
including mutual funds, exchange traded funds (ETF’s) and exchange 
traded notes (ETN’s). 
 
(11)  Emerging markets equity index funds, which taken as a whole, 
attempt to replicate the MSCIFTSE Emerging Market Index, including both 
mutual funds and (ETF’s). 
 
(12)  International Bond index funds, which taken as a whole, attempt to 
replicate Barclays Capital Global Treasury ex-U.S. Capped Index, 
including both mutual funds and ETF’s. 
 
(13)  U.S. Treasury Inflation Protected Securities (TIPS), and/or mutual 
funds or ETF’s which attempt to replicate the Barclays Capital U.S. 
Treasury Inflation Protected Securities Index. 

 
 

(c)  Limitations.  The following investment practices are prohibited and 
shall constitute limitations to fund investments:  
 

(1)  Options and futures may not be purchased or sold; complex 
derivatives and complex structured notes which provide for uncertain 
payment dates and amounts are prohibited without the express, written 
consent of the city council, as are practices which involve the use of 
leveraging through reverse repurchase agreements; 
 
(2)  Investments in U.S. dollar denominated obligations of corporations 
shall be limited to a percentage level as provided for by the city council 
from time to time. Investment grade to be defined by at least one 
nationally recognized rating service. The investment in the lowest level of 
investment grade securities is to be limited to no more than ten percent of 
the marketable debt securities; 
 
(3)  No investment shall be made in any one individual security or issuer in 
excess of five percent of the total investment portfolio, measured by 
market value, except for obligations of the U.S. government and its 
agencies. 
 
(4)  No investments, cumulatively, shall be made in any one industry in 
excess of 25 percent of the total investment portfolio except for obligations 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 52 of 144



Ordinance No. 5905 
Page 4 of 7 

of the U.S. and its agencies without quarterly disclosure to the Review 
Board for consideration. 
 
(5) Effective January 1, 2009, no commercial residential mortgaged 
backed securities (MBS, etc. but not to exclude securities issued by a U.S. 
government agency) and no further commercial mortgage backed 
securities (CMBS, etc) may be purchased. 
 

(d)  Transactional records.  The board shall maintain on file within the 
offices of the city, monthly reports which indicate the following:   
 

(1)  All transactions affecting the investment account, to include purchases 
and sales of securities, transfers of cash into and out of the account, 
interest or dividends received by the account; and 
 
(2)  A listing of all assets held in the investment account, including 
identification of the security, original purchase price, and current market 
price. 

 
(e)  Fund performance evaluation.  The city council and the board may 
have an objective performance evaluation of the investment program 
every year. The board may retain a performance measurement consultant 
whose contractual purpose will be to provide objective measurement of 
the performance of investment managers and the portfolio against 
appropriate indices, universes and/or benchmarks as recommended by 
the consultant and adopted by the city council and the board. Portfolio 
performance may be reviewed by the consultant at least semiannually with 
the city council and the board. Such consultant may not manage in any 
capacity any portion of the portfolio.  
 
(f)  Custodian bank.  The city council and the board shall retain a bank 
custodian to hold all investment cash and securities in the name of the 
city's permanent fund. The custodian shall render monthly reports to the 
city council and the board regarding assets held at both book and market 
values, and individual transactions which have taken place. The bank shall 
have adequate fidelity insurance. A written contract will be entered into 
between the city and the custodian bank. 
 
(g)  Investment managers. The city council and the board shall retain one 
or more professional investment managers to design portfolios and invest 
funds in accordance with the written investment policies adopted by the 
city council. The investment managers must be registered financial 
advisers with both the United States Securities and Exchange 
Commission and the state and may not serve in any multiple role as 
investment manager or securities broker custodian. They must agree to 
serve as a fiduciary to the fund and carry professional liability insurance in 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 53 of 144



Ordinance No. 5905 
Page 5 of 7 

the minimum amount of $5,000,000.00. A written contract must be entered 
into between the fund and the investment managers.  
 
(h)  Fiduciary status; conflict of interest.  The board shall be considered to 
have the responsibility of a fiduciary to the fund and shall be indemnified 
by the city in any action brought against them collectively or individually 
while acting in this capacity. No board member may act on behalf of the 
board in any manner involving the investments of the portfolio or its 
management pursuant to this policy, except as specifically authorized by 
the city council in writing.  
 
(i)  Prudent investor rule.  The city council, the board, the staff, the 
investment managers and the bank custodians shall exercise the 
judgment and care under the circumstances then prevailing which an 
investor of ordinary prudence, discretion and intelligence exercises in the 
management of large investments entrusted to it, not in regard to 
speculation, but in regard to the long-term investment of funds considering 
the probable safety of capital as well as probable income. 
 
(j)  Balance available for appropriation.  The city council may only 
appropriate from the permanent fund as follows: In any fiscal year, an 
amount not to exceed four percent of the five-year average fund market 
value, to be computed using the five prior years' year end audited market 
value, for the city operations, and an additional 0.5 percent solely for 
capital needs. 
 

Sec. 2-261. Permanent fund asset allocation plan and performance 
measurement targets. The target for equities is 40% of the portfolio with an 
allowable range of 30% to 5060%. The target for fixed income is 60% of the 
portfolio with an allowable range of 5040% to 70%. 

 
(a)  Within the overall guidelines for equities and fixed income 
investments, the asset allocation targets and ranges are as follows: 

 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 54 of 144



Ordinance No. 5905 
Page 6 of 7 

 
 
 
 
 
(b)  The performance of the investment advisors for the overall portfolio will be 
measured against the weighted blended target allocation plus 50 basis points 
(0.5%).  Components of the portfolio will be measured as follows: 

 
1.  Performance measurement of the Domestic Equity allocation will 
be measured against the Target Weighting, using the Standard & 
Poor's 500 as the benchmark. 
 
2.  Performance measurement for the Mid/Small Cap Equity 
allocation will be measured against the Target Weighting, using the 
Standard & Poor's 400 MidCap Index as the benchmark. 
 
3.  Performance measurement for the International Equity allocation 
will be measured against the target weighting using the FTSE 
Developed ex North AmericaMorgan Stanley Europe, Australasia, 
Far East (EAFE) Index for the benchmark. 
 
4.  Performance measurement for the real estate allocation will be 
measured against the target weighting using the Standard & Poor's 
REIT Index for the benchmark. 
 
5.  Performance measurement for the U.S. Bond allocation will be 
measured against the target weighting using the Barclays Capital 
U.S. Aggregate Bond Index for the benchmark. Duration should be 
maintained between 80 percent and 120 percent of the duration of 
the benchmark. 
 

Large Cap Equity 22 20  15 ‐ 50

Mid Cap Equity 2 0 ‐ 10

Small Cap Equity 1 0 ‐ 10

InternationalEquity 8 0 ‐ 15

Emerging Markets Equity 2 0 ‐ 5 10

Real Estate Equity 5 0 ‐ 10

Fixed Income ‐  Overall 60 50  40 ‐ 70

US Bonds meeting Ordinance Criteria 45 40 30 ‐ 70

InternationalBonds 5 0 ‐ 10

U.S Treasury Inflation Protected Securities 10  5 0 ‐ 15 10

Cash/1‐3 month Treasuries 5 0 ‐ 10

Commodities 0 0 ‐ 10

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 55 of 144



Ordinance No. 5905 
Page 7 of 7 

6.  Performance measurement of the commodity allocation will be 
measured against the target weighting, using a broad based index 
such as the Dow Jones-UBS Commodity Index, selected by the 
Permanent Fund Review Board. 
 
7.  Performance measurement for the emerging markets equity 
allocation will be measured against the target weighting using the 
MSCIFTSE Emerging Market Index. 
 
8.  Performance measurement for the international bond allocation 
will be measured against the target weighting using the Barclays 
Capital Global Treasury ex. U.S. Capped Index. 
 
9.  Performance measurement for the U.S. Treasury Inflation 
Protected Securities (TIPS) allocation will be measured against the 
target weighting using the Barclays Capital U.S. Treasury Inflation 
Protected Securities Index. 
 

 
Section 2:  That Fairbanks General Code Section 2-262 is adopted: 
 
Sec 2-262 Interim Use of Substitute Index.  In the event that one of the 
indices specified in Sections 2-260 and 2-261 becomes, in the professional 
judgment of the investment manager, unavailable or inappropriate, a 
substitute index may be used on an interim basis with the written consent 
of the City Chief Financial Officer, who shall notify the Mayor and City 
Council and prepare an ordinance amending the investment policy 
accordingly for introduction at the next Council Meeting. 

 
 
Section 3:  That the effective date of this Ordinance shall be the ___ day of_____,2012. 
 
 
       _________________________ 

Jerry Cleworth, City Mayor 
 
AYES:    
NAYS:   
ABSENT:    
ADOPTED:  
 
 
ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM 
 
 
_____________________________ ________________________ 

 Janey Hovenden, CMC, City Clerk  Paul J Ewers, City Attorney 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 56 of 144



                       Introduced By:  Mayor Jerry Cleworth 
            Date:  November 19, 2012 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 5906  

 
AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING RELEASE OF AN 

EASEMENT IN PEGER LAKE DEVELOPMENT. 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Fairbanks acquired a certain easement on May 25, 1995, the 
same being recorded in Book 928 at Pages 603 through 607, records of the Fairbanks 
Recording District (“the easement”); and  
 

WHEREAS, said easement comprises a twenty-foot strip of land centered on the lot 
lines common to Lots 48 and 49, Peger Lake Development Phase II, according to the plat 
filed July 13, 1993 as Plat No. 93-168, as shown on attached “Exhibit A”; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the intended purpose of the easement was to allow installation of pipe into 
Peger Lake as a water source for a “draft” fire hydrant, because at that time, there was no 
public water supply for this purpose; and 
 

WHEREAS, since acquiring the easement, sufficient water mains have been installed 
such that water supply for fire hydrants is now available at this location; and  

 
WHEREAS, the owners of Lots 48 and 49 have requested that the easement be 

released; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City Fire Marshall has reviewed this easement and determined that it 

is no longer required for fire protection and can be released; and 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
FAIRBANKS, ALASKA, as follows: 
  

 SECTION 1. DETERMINATION: That said easement is no longer 
necessary for municipal purposes and shall be released.  
 

SECTION 2. MAYORS AUTHORIZATION:  That the Mayor is hereby 
authorized and empowered to execute such documents as necessary to effect 
release of said easement after Council approval. 

 
 SECTION 3.  That the effective date of this ordinance shall be the 8th 
day of December 2012.  
 

                                                                              
                          JERRY CLEWORTH, Mayor 
AYES: 
NAYS: 
ABSENT: 
ADOPTED: 
 
ATTEST:       APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
                                                                                                                             
JANEY HOVENDEN, CMC, City Clerk   PAUL EWERS, City Attorney 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 57 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 58 of 144



 

Introduced By:  Mayor Cleworth 
Finance Committee Review: November 2 - 8, 2012 

Introduced: November 19, 2012 
 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 5907 

 
AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING THE 2013 
OPERATING AND CAPITAL BUDGETS 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to City Charter Section 5.2, on October 31, 2012, Mayor 

Cleworth presented a recommended annual operating and capital budget estimate for 
2013; and  

 
WHEREAS, the proposed budget has been reviewed by the City Finance 

Committee with the active participation of City Department Directors. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF FAIRBANKS, ALASKA, as follows: 
 

SECTION 1.   There is hereby appropriated to the 2013 General Fund budget 
from the following sources of revenue for the City of Fairbanks in the amount indicated 
to the departments named for the purpose of conducting the business of said 
departments of the City of Fairbanks, Alaska, for the fiscal year commencing January 1, 
2013 and ending December 31, 2013: 

 
 
 

MAYOR 
RECOMMENDS

COUNCIL
APPROPRIATION

Taxes, (all sources) 19,495,990$       -$                             
Charges for Services 4,319,431           -                               
Intergovernmental Revenues 3,180,122           -                               
Licenses & Permits 1,678,239           -                               
Fines, Forfeitures & Penalties 987,075              -                               
Interest & Penalties 142,500              -                               
Rental & Lease Income 157,919              -                               
Other Revenues 212,500              -                               
Other Financing Sources 3,416,592           -                               

Total Appropriation 33,590,368$       -$                             
 

 
 

 
 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 59 of 144



Ordinance No. 5907 
Page 2 

 
 
SECTION 2.  There is hereby appropriated to the 2013 budget expenditures for 

the City of Fairbanks in the amount indicated: 

 
 
 
 

  

DEPT DESCRIPTION
MAYOR 

RECOMMENDS
COUNCIL 

APPROPRIATION

10 Mayor and Council 495,271$            -$                             
11 Office of the City Attorney 172,281              -                                
12 Office of the City Clerk 344,767              -                                
13 Finance Department 902,267              -                                
14 Information Technology 1,431,938           -                                
15 General Account 5,138,271           -                                
16 Risk Management 1,406,448           -                                
20 Police Department 6,838,678           -                                
21 Dispatch Center 1,983,336           -                                
30 Fire Department 6,370,513           -                                
50 Public Works Department 7,199,801           -                                
51 Engineering Department 465,775              -                                
60 Building Department 656,136              -                                

Total general fund appropriation 33,405,482$      -$                             

10,562,266$      -$                             
 Increase to fund balance 184,886              -                                

Committed for snow removal (250,000)             -                                
(530,000)             -                                

12/31/13 Unassigned balance 9,967,152$        -$                             
                (Estimate) Committed self insurance reserve 

12/31/12 (estimate) general fund balance

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 60 of 144



Ordinance No. 5907 
Page 3 

SECTION 3.   There is hereby appropriated to the 2013 Capital Fund budget 
from the following sources of revenue for the City of Fairbanks in the amount indicated: 

 
MAYOR 

RECOMMENDS
COUNCIL 

APPROPRIATION

Transfer from Permanent Fund 482,146$            -$                             
Transfer from General Fund 150,000              -                               
Transfer Ambulance Mileage from General Fund 65,000                 -                               
Budgeted Garbage Equipment Replacement 225,574              -                               
Equipment Replacement - Public Works 250,000              -                               
Equipment Replacement - Building Department 10,000                 -                               
Equipment Replacement - Police 180,000              -                               
Equipment Replacement - Dispatch 75,000                 -                               
Equipment Replacement - Fire 250,000              -                               
Equipment Replacement - I/T 105,000              -                               
Property Repair & Replacement 145,000              -                               

Total Appropriation 1,937,720$         -$                             

 
To the departments named for the purpose of conducting the business of said 
departments of the City of Fairbanks, Alaska, for the fiscal year commencing January 1, 
2013 and ending December 31, 2013. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 61 of 144



Ordinance No. 5907 
Page 4 

SECTION 4.  There is hereby appropriated to the 2013 capital budget, 
expenditures for the City of Fairbanks in the amount indicated: 

 

DEPARTMENT DESCRIPTION
MAYOR 

RECOMMENDS
COUNCIL 

APPROPRIATION

14 Information Tech. Department 165,000              -                              
20 Police Department 180,000              -                              
21 Dispatch Department 45,000                -                              
30 Fire Department 618,000              -                              
50 Public Works Department 1,537,800           -                              

Total Capital Fund Appropriation 2,545,800$         -$                            

12/31/12 (estimate) capital fund balance 4,153,928           -                              
Decrease to fund balance (608,080)             -                              
Total Decrease to assigned fund balance 3,545,848         -                             

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 62 of 144



Ordinance No. 5907 
Page 5 

SECTION 5.  All appropriations made by this ordinance lapse at the end of the fiscal 
year to the extent they have not been expended or contractually committed to the 
departments named for the purpose of conducting the business of said departments of 
the City of Fairbanks, Alaska, for the fiscal year commencing January 1, 2013 and 
ending December 31, 2013. 
 
 

SECTION 6.  The effective date of this ordinance shall be the ____ day of 
December 2012. 
 
 

    _________________________ 
       JERRY CLEWORTH, MAYOR 

 
 
AYES:    
NAYS:    
ABSENT:  
ADOPTED:  
 
 
ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM 
 
 
_____________________________ __________________________ 
JaneyHovenden,CMC, City Clerk   Paul J. Ewers, City Attorney 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 63 of 144



 

Introduced By:  Mayor Cleworth 
                                                                                        Introduced: November 19, 2012 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 5908 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE 2012 GENERAL FUND 
BUDGET FOR THE THIRD TIME 

 
WHEREAS, this ordinance incorporates the changes outlined on the attached 

fiscal note to amend the 2012 general fund budget.  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF FAIRBANKS, ALASKA, as follows: 

 

SECTION 1.   There is hereby appropriated to the 2012 budget from the following 
sources of revenue for the City of Fairbanks in the amount indicated to the departments 
named for the purpose of conducting the business of said departments of the City of 
Fairbanks, Alaska, for the fiscal year commencing January 1, 2012 and ending 
December 31, 2012:   

 
Approved 

Budget As Amended

Taxes, (all sources) 19,425,990$       19,425,990$           
Charges for Services 4,331,966           4,557,259               
Intergovernmental Revenues 3,804,499           3,805,284               
Licenses & Permits 1,891,198           1,946,370               
Fines, Forfeitures & Penalties 1,115,390           1,031,533               
Interest & Penalties 122,000              140,893                  
Rental & Lease Income 157,919              158,119                  
Other Revenues 482,588              518,523                  
Other Financing Sources 2,012,389           1,022,800               

Total Appropriation 33,343,939$       32,606,771$           

 
                                                       

 
 
 
 
 
 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 64 of 144



Ordinance No. 5908 
Page 2 

 
SECTION 2.    There is hereby appropriated to the 2012 general fund budget 

expenditures for the City of Fairbanks in the amount indicated: 
 

 

 
 
SECTION 3.  All appropriations made by this ordinance lapse at the end of the 

fiscal year to the extent they have not been expended or contractually committed to the 
departments named for the purpose of conducting the business of said departments of 
the City of Fairbanks, Alaska, for the fiscal year commencing January 1, 2012 and 
ending December 31, 2012. 

 
 

DEPT DESCRIPTION
Approved 

Budget As Amended

10 Mayor and Council 483,403$            483,403$                
11 Office of the City Attorney 166,857              166,857                  
12 Office of the City Clerk 300,758              300,758                  
13 Finance Department 882,600              882,600                  
14 Information Technology 1,447,837           1,447,837               
15 General Account 5,000,223           5,000,223               
16 Risk Management 1,410,927           1,410,927               
20 Police Department 6,770,347           6,770,347               
21 Dispatch 1,971,025           1,971,025               
30 Fire Department 6,361,380           6,361,380               
50 Department of Public Works 6,990,010           6,990,010               
51 Engineering Division 611,316              611,316                  
60 Building Department 640,741              640,741                  

Total General Fund Appropriation 33,037,424$      33,037,424$           

Total Revenues 33,343,939$      32,606,771$           
2011 Assigned Fund Balance for encumbrances 293,960              293,960                  
Total Revenues and prior year assignments 33,637,899$      32,900,731$           

Total Appropriation 33,037,424        33,037,424             
Decrease to general fund unassigned fund balance 600,475$            (136,693)$               

12/31/11 general fund balance 10,992,919$      10,992,919$           
Decrease to fund balance 600,475              (136,693)                 
Assigned encumbrances (293,960)             (293,960)                 

12/31/12  Projected general fund balance 11,299,434        10,562,266             
Committed for snow removal (250,000)             (250,000)                 

(529,273)             (529,273)                 
12/31/12 Projected Unassigned balance 10,520,161$      9,782,993$             

                           Committed for Self Insurance Reserve  

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 65 of 144



Ordinance No. 5908 
Page 3 

 
SECTION 4.  The effective date of this Ordinance shall be the ___ day of 

_____________ 2012. 
 
 
 

                                    _______________________________ 
Jerry Cleworth, MAYOR 

 
 
AYES:      
NAYS:      
ABSENT:   
ADOPTED:   
 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM 
 
 
 
_____________________________  __________________________ 
Janey Hovenden, CMC, City Clerk  Paul J. Ewers, City Attorney 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 66 of 144



Ordinance No. 5908 
Page 4 

FISCAL NOTE 
 

ORDINANCE 5908 AMENDING 2012 GENERAL FUND BUDGET THIRD TIME 
 

ESTIMATED REVENUES and OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
($737,168) Decrease 

 
 

1. Taxes – No Change 

2. Charges for Services – $225,293 Increase  

 Various accounts see attachment   

3. Intergovernmental Revenues – $785 Increase 

 PILT revenue 

4. Licenses & Permits – $55,172 Increase 

 Various accounts see attachment 

5. Fines, Forfeitures & Penalties – ($83,857) Decrease 

 Various accounts see attachment 

6. Interest & Penalties – $18,893 Increase 

 Various accounts see attachment 

7. Rental & Lease Income – $200 Increase 

 Rent ETS 

8. Other Revenues – $35,935 Increase 

 Various accounts see attachment 

9. Other Financing Sources & (Uses) – ($989,589) Decrease  

 $(750,000) Decrease for transfer to Capital Fund 

 $(250,000) Decrease for transfer to Permanent Fund 

 $10,411 Increase for sale of assets 

 

 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 67 of 144



Ordinance No. 5908 
Page 5 

FISCAL NOTE CONTINUED 
ESTIMATED EXPENDITURES 

 
No Change 

 
 

1. Mayor & Council – No Change 

 

2. City Attorney’s Office – No Change 

 
 

3. City Clerk’s Office – No Change 

 

4. Finance Department – No Change 

 

5. Information Technology – No Change 

 

6. General Account – No Change 

 

7. Risk Management – No Change 

 

8. Police Department – No Change 

 

9. Dispatch – No Change 

 

10. Fire Department – No Change 

 

11. Public Works – No Change 

 

12. Engineering – No Change 

 

13. Building Department – No Change 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 68 of 144



ORDINANCE 5908ATTACHMENT

as of 11/7/12

    REVISED  ACTUAL YTD  Recommended Amended 

    EST REV  REVENUE  VARIANCE Amendment Budget

3001__ REAL PROPERTY TAXES                               14,043,990        14,043,989.96            (0.04)                        ‐                                  14,043,990              

3002__ HOTEL MOTEL TAXES                                  2,462,000           2,240,976.82              (221,023.18)           ‐                                  2,462,000                

3003__ ALCOHOL BEVERAGES TAXES                     2,000,000           1,549,829.95              (450,170.05)           ‐                                  2,000,000                

3004__ TOBACCO DISTRIBUTION TAXES               920,000              695,149.87                 (224,850.13)           ‐                                  920,000                    

19,425,990        18,529,946.60            (896,043.40)           ‐                                  19,425,990              

 CHARGES FOR SERVICES               

3101__ RESERVE FOR LOSSES                                  (50,000)               ‐                                50,000.00               ‐                                  (50,000)                     

3125__ ATTORNEY FEES COURT COSTS                 7,000                   5,770.00                      (1,230.00)                ‐                                  7,000                        

3126__ ELECTION FILING SERVICES                        125                      175.00                         50.00                       50                               175                            

3140__ COPY CHARGES                                            19,500                20,146.90                    646.90                     650                             20,150                      

3180__ ADMIN REC GRANTS                                   30,000                23,189.65                    (6,810.35)                ‐                                  30,000                      

3102__ AMBULANCE                                                 1,170,000           706,742.37                 (463,257.63)           ‐                                  1,170,000                

3103__ FIRE PROTECTION SERVICES                      5,350                   15,259.53                    9,909.53                 9,910                         15,260                      

3104__ MOTOR VEH ACCIDENT REVENUE            10,000                15,514.71                    5,514.71                 5,515                         15,515                      

3108__ ALARM SYSTEM BILLINGS                           90,000                110,625.00                 20,625.00               20,625                       110,625                    

3110__ DISPATCH SERVICES                                    530,000              557,798.11                 27,798.11               27,800                       557,800                    

3112__ GARBAGE COLLECTION                               1,487,180           1,492,398.89              5,218.89                 5,219                         1,492,399                

3113__ GARBAGE EQUIPMENT RESERVE              202,800              204,387.25                 1,587.25                 1,587                         204,387                    

3115__ PW WARRANTY REIMBURSEMENT           ‐                           130.00                         130.00                     130                             130                            

3123__ ENG GEN SERVICES LABOR                         ‐                           37.50                            37.50                       38                               38                              

3124__ ENG MISC CHARGES & FEES                       1,800                   4,012.00                      2,212.00                 2,212                         4,012                        

3183__ ENG RECOVERY GRANTS                             800,000              797,285.48                 (2,714.52)                150,000                     950,000                    

3185__ PW RECOVERY GRANTS                              25,061                25,061.26                    0.26                         ‐                                  25,061                      

3460__ STRMWATER PPP PLAN REVIEW               1,200                   ‐                                (1,200.00)                ‐                                  1,200                        

3461__ STRMWTR SITE REVIEW 1TO5 ACRE         250                      ‐                                (250.00)                   ‐                                  250                            

3130__ BUILDING MISC SERVICES                          1,700                   3,258.00                      1,558.00                 1,558                         3,258                        

4,331,966           3,981,791.65              (350,174.35)           225,293                     4,557,259                

INTERGOVERNMENTAL                  

3305__ SOA BOND REIMBURSEMENT                    867,690              867,690.00                 ‐                           ‐                                  867,690                    

3314__ SART EXAM REIMBURSEMENT                  1,800                   1,800.00                      ‐                           ‐                                  1,800                        

3301__ SOA MUNICIPAL ASSISTANCE                    2,247,507           2,247,507.00              ‐                           ‐                                  2,247,507                

3302__ SOA ELECTRIC PHONE                                 121,852              121,852.33                 0.33                         ‐                                  121,852                    

3303__ SOA LIQUOR LICENSE                                  81,950                81,950.00                    ‐                           ‐                                  81,950                      

3304__ FNSB PILT                                                      8,700                   9,484.94                      784.94                     785                             9,485                        

3315__ FT WW NORTH HAVEN PILT                       475,000              475,000.00                 ‐                           ‐                                  475,000                    

3,804,499           3,805,284.27              785.27                     785                             3,805,284                

 TAXES                         

ORDINANCE 5908ATTACHMENT
AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 69 of 144



ORDINANCE 5908ATTACHMENT

LICENSES AND PERMITS               

3401__ BUSINESS LICENSE                                       834,120              846,020.00                 11,900.00               11,900                       846,020                    

3403__ TRANSIET VENDOR LICENSE                       2,800                   3,900.00                      1,100.00                 1,100                         3,900                        

3404__ SPECIAL EVENT PERMIT                              12,000                20,850.32                    8,850.32                 8,850                         20,850                      

3405__ PRIVATE DETECTIVE LICENSE                     2,000                   1,800.00                      (200.00)                   ‐                                  2,000                        

3407__ MASSAGE PRACTITIONER LICENSE           3,500                   5,250.00                      1,750.00                 1,750                         5,250                        

3409__ COMMERCIAL REFUSE LICENSE                 ‐                           2,000.00                      2,000.00                 2,000                         2,000                        

3410__ TOWING VEHICLE LICENSE                         ‐                           1,000.00                      1,000.00                 1,000                         1,000                        

3411__ CHAUFFEUR LICENSE                                   29,000                32,930.00                    3,930.00                 3,930                         32,930                      

3413__ COMM VEHICLE FOR HIRE PERMITS         18,500                19,500.00                    1,000.00                 1,000                         19,500                      

3414__ BICYCLE LICENSE                                          20                        12.00                            (8.00)                        ‐                                  20                              

3432__ TEMPORARY CATERERS APPL FEE             2,000                   2,100.00                      100.00                     100                             2,100                        

3440__ MISC PERMITS AND LICENSES                   400                      700.00                         300.00                     300                             700                            

3105__ FIRE CODE INSPECTIONS                            80,000                89,771.50                    9,771.50                 9,772                         89,772                      

3423__ ALARM PERMITS                                          1,000                   605.00                         (395.00)                   ‐                                  1,000                        

3117__ ENG PLAT SERVICES 4 OR LESS                  ‐                           400.00                         400.00                     400                             400                            

3119__ ENG QUICK PLATS                                        ‐                           300.00                         300.00                     300                             300                            

3425__ ENG DRIVEWAY CONST PERMIT                1,500                   1,250.00                      (250.00)                   ‐                                  1,500                        

3426__ ENG SDWLK ST OBSTRUCT PERMIT          1,200                   1,950.00                      750.00                     750                             1,950                        

3428__ RIGHT OF WAY PERMIT                              18,500                19,657.80                    1,157.80                 1,158                         19,658                      

3431__ ENG STREET EXCAVATION PERMIT           4,500                   4,200.00                      (300.00)                   ‐                                  4,500                        

3408__ MASTER PLUMBER LICENSE/EXAMS        4,000                   1,000.00                      (3,000.00)                ‐                                  4,000                        

3415__ COMMERCIAL BUILDING PERMIT             649,558              630,977.00                 (18,581.00)              ‐                                  649,558                    

3418__ RESIDENTIAL BUILDING PERMIT               102,600              50,957.00                    (51,643.00)              (51,643)                      50,957                      

3420__ MECHANICAL PERMIT                                 35,201                50,911.00                    15,710.00               15,710                       50,911                      

3421__ PLUMBING PERMIT                                     23,706                31,963.00                    8,257.00                 8,257                         31,963                      

3422__ SIGN PERMIT                                                 4,000                   7,876.00                      3,876.00                 3,876                         7,876                        

3424__ ELECTRICAL PERMIT                                    61,093                95,755.00                    34,662.00               34,662                       95,755                      

1,891,198           1,923,635.62              32,437.62               55,172                       1,946,370                

FINES FORFIETURES                  

3109__ TRAFFIC TICKET COLLECTION FEE             37,000                37,597.57                    597.57                     598                             37,598                      

3602__ PARKING VIOLATIONS                                 3,000                   360.00                         (2,640.00)                (2,640)                        360                            

3603__ MOVING TRAFFIC VIOLATIONS                  495,467              331,177.19                 (164,289.81)           (100,000)                   395,467                    

3604__ MISC VIOLATIONS                                        100                      ‐                                (100.00)                   (100)                           ‐                                 

3605__ VEHICLE FORFEITURES                                475,000              451,150.82                 (23,849.18)              ‐                                  475,000                    

3608__ CITY FORFEITURES                                       78,748                90,466.25                    11,718.25               11,718                       90,466                      

3609__ EMS SEATBELT OPTION                              75                        105.00                         30.00                       30                               105                            

3606__ VEH FORF TOWING STORAGE ACCESS     26,000                32,536.92                    6,536.92                 6,537                         32,537                      

1,115,390           943,393.75                 (171,996.25)           (83,857)                      1,031,533                

ORDINANCE 5908ATTACHMENT
AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 70 of 144



ORDINANCE 5908ATTACHMENT

 INTEREST PENALTIES                 

4001__ INTEREST DEMAND DEPOSITS                   2,500                   2,034.06                      (465.94)                   ‐                                  2,500                        

4002__ HOTEL MOTEL INT PENALTY                      10,000                (23,414.68)                  (33,414.68)              ‐                                  10,000                      

4003__ ALCOHOL INT PENALTY                               16,000                13,392.85                    (2,607.15)                (2,607)                        13,393                      

4004__ TOBACCO INT PENALTY ‐                           500.00                         500.00                     500                             500                            

4005__ PROP TAX INT PENALTY                              70,000                89,510.02                    19,510.02               21,000                       91,000                      

4007__ GARBAGE INT PENALTY                              22,000                46,748.89                    24,748.89               ‐                                  22,000                      

4008__ SPEC ASSESSMENTS INT PENALTY            1,500                   1,387.49                      (112.51)                   ‐                                  1,500                        

122,000              130,158.63                 8,158.63                 18,893                       140,893                    

 RENTAL AND LEASES                  

4201__ UTILIDOR LEASES                                         80,000                80,000.00                    ‐                           ‐                                  80,000                      

4203__ RENT OLD CITY HALL                                   1                           ‐                                (1.00)                        ‐                                  1                                

4205__ RENT ETS                                           ‐                           200.00                         200.00                     200                             200                            

4207__ RENT YOUTH COURT                                   3,108                   2,849.00                      (259.00)                   ‐                                  3,108                        

4208__ RENT BOYS GIRLS CLUB                              16,260                14,905.00                    (1,355.00)                ‐                                  16,260                      

4209__ RENT BOXING CLUB                                     840                      770.00                         (70.00)                      ‐                                  840                            

4212__ RENT GOLD HEART PLAZA                          ‐                           11.00                            11.00                       ‐                                  ‐                                 

4214__ RENT FCVB                                                    10                        ‐                                (10.00)                      ‐                                  10                              

4216__ LEASE CELL TOWER                                      19,200                17,600.00                    (1,600.00)                ‐                                  19,200                      

4202__ RENT FIRE TRAINING CENTER                    38,500                30,199.20                    (8,300.80)                ‐                                  38,500                      

157,919              146,534.20                 (11,384.80)              200                             158,119                    

OTHER REVENUES                     

3801__ SPECIAL ASSESS PRINCIPAL                        5,000                   4,415.73                      (584.27)                   ‐                                  5,000                        

4700__ ABATEMENTS RECOVERY                           ‐                           14,360.02                    14,360.02               14,360                       14,360                      

4703__ CASH OVER AND SHORT                             ‐                           0.51                              0.51                         ‐                                  ‐                                 

4704__ MISCELLANEOUS REVENUES                      277,588              298,835.27                 21,247.27               21,250                       298,838                    

4701__ TECHITE SETTLEMENT                                 200,000              200,000.00                 ‐                           ‐                                  200,000                    

4702__ DONATIONS CONTRIBUTIONS                   ‐                           325.00                         325.00                     325                             325                            

482,588              517,936.53                 35,348.53               35,935                       518,523                    

OFS OFU                            

4901__ SALE OF ASSETS                                            198,727              209,138.47                 10,411.47               10,411.47                 209,138                    

4928__ XFER FROM PF OPERATIONS                     3,922,848           1,716,246.00              (2,206,602.00)        ‐                              3,922,848                

7602__ XFER TO PF                                                    (606,374)             (606,374.00)                ‐                           (250,000.00)              (856,374)                  

7604__ XFER TO CAP FUND                                      (1,235,012)         (1,235,012.00)             ‐                           (750,000.00)              (1,985,012)               

7610__ XFER TO CAP FUND EQ RESERVE               (202,800)             (151,437.50)                51,362.50               ‐                              (202,800)                  

7614__ XFER TO CAP FUND AMB MILAGE             (65,000)               ‐                                65,000.00               ‐                              (65,000)                     

2,012,389           (67,439.03)                  (2,079,828.03)        (989,588.53)              1,022,800                

TOTAL REVENUES  33,343,939        29,911,242.22            (3,432,696.78)        (737,168.48)              32,606,770.52        

TOTAL INTEREST PENALTIES            

ORDINANCE 5908ATTACHMENT
AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 71 of 144



CALENDAR 2013 

 Golden Heart City 
 Visit us on the Web at www.ci.fairbanks.ak.us 11/15/2012 

2013 CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS and HOLIDAY LIST 
 

 
 
JANUARY  07     JULY     08 
   21         22 
 

FEBRUARY  11     AUGUST   05 
   25        19 
 

MARCH  11     SEPTEMBER 09 
   25        23 
 

APRIL  08     OCTOBER  07 
   22        21 
 

MAY   06     NOVEMBER  04 
   20        25 
 

JUNE   10     DECEMBER  02 
   24        09 
 
 
NOTE: Any deviation from FGC is a result of City Holidays, budget deadlines 

or AAMC/AML Conference conflicts.   
 

 
2013 CITY HOLIDAYS 

 
New Year’s Day   Tuesday   January 1, 2013 

President's Day   Monday   February 18, 2013 

Memorial Day   Monday   May 27, 2013 

Independence Day   Thursday   July 4, 2013 

Labor Day    Monday   September 2, 2013 

Veteran's Day    Monday   November 11, 2013 

Thanksgiving Day   Thursday   November 28, 2013 

Christmas Day   Wednesday   December 25, 2013 

AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 72 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 73 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 74 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 75 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 76 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 77 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 78 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 79 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 80 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 81 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 82 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 83 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 84 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 85 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 86 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 87 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 88 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 89 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 90 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 91 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 92 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 93 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 94 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 95 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 96 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 97 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 98 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 99 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 100 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 101 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 102 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 103 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 104 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 105 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 106 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 107 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 108 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 109 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 110 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 111 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 112 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 113 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 114 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 115 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 116 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 117 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 118 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 119 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 120 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 121 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 122 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 123 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 124 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 125 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 126 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 127 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 128 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 129 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 130 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 131 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 132 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 133 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 134 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 135 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 136 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 137 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 138 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 139 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 140 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 141 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 142 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 143 of 144



AGENDA PACKET - November 19, 2012 Page 144 of 144


	AGENDA - November 19, 2012
	MINUTES - October 22, 2012
	SPECIAL ORDERS
	Liquor License Transfer - 

	UNFINISHED BUSINESS
	Ordinance No. 5903, As Amended

	NEW BUSINESS
	Resolution No. 4547
	Ordinance No. 5905
	Ordinance No. 5906
	Ordinance No. 5907
	Ordinance No. 5908

	COMMUNICATIONS TO COUNCIL
	Approval of the 2013 City Council Meeting Schedule
	Permanent Fund Minutes 08/01/2012




